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Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of International Petroleum Corporation (“IPC” or the “Corporation” and, 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) and other information contained in the management’s discussion and analysis are the 
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) as outlined in Part 1 of the Handbook of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada, 
and include some amounts that are based on management’s estimates and judgment.

The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the consolidated financial statements principally through its Audit 
Committee, which is comprised solely of independent directors. The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s annual consolidated 
financial statements and recommends its approval to the Board of Directors. The Corporation’s auditors have full access to the 
Audit Committee, with and without management being present. These consolidated financial statements have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers SA, Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants.

(Signed) Mike Nicholson       (Signed) Christophe Nerguararian 
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer     Chief Financial Officer

Vancouver, Canada
February 7, 2023
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PricewaterhouseCoopers SA, avenue Giuseppe-Motta 50, case postale, CH-1211 Genève 2, Switzerland 
Téléphone: +41 58 792 91 00, Téléfax: + 41 58 792 91 10, www.pwc.ch 
 
 

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of International Petroleum Corporation 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of International Petroleum Corporation and its subsidiaries (together, the 
Corporation) as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

What we have audited 
The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 

• the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021; 
• the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years then ended; 
• the consolidated balance sheet for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021; 
• the consolidated statements of cash flow for the years then ended; 
• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended; and 
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies. 

 
Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Key audit matters of matter  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit 
matters 

The impact of oil and gas reserves on net property, plant and 
equipment (PP&E) for the Canada, Malaysia, and France 
segments 

Refer to note 1 - Corporate information, note 2 - Critical 
accounting estimates and judgements, and note 8 – Oil and Gas 
Properties to the consolidated financial statements. 

The Corporation has USD 958.6 million of net PP&E assets as at 
December 31, 2022. Depletion charges were USD 122.0 million 
for the year then ended. PP&E is depleted based on the year’s 
production in relation to the estimated total proved and probable 
reserves in accordance with the unit of production method. 

At each balance sheet date or when there are facts and 
circumstances that suggest that the net book value of capitalized 
costs within each field area cost centre is higher than anticipated 
future net cash flow from oil and gas reserves attributable to the 
Corporation’s interest in the related field areas, the Corporation 
performs an assessment as to whether there is an indication that 
an asset may be impaired. Management determined the 
recoverable amounts of PP&E based on the higher of fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use using estimated future 
discounted net cash flows of proved and probable oil and gas 
reserves. The Corporation’s estimates of proved and probable oil 
and gas reserves used in the calculations for impairment tests and 
accounting for depletion have been reviewed by Management’s 
experts, specifically independent qualified reserves auditor. 

Significant assumptions developed by management used to 
determine the recoverable amount include the proved and 
probable oil and gas reserves, expected production volumes, 
future oil and gas prices, future development costs, future 
production costs and the discount rate. 

We determined that this is a key audit matter due to (i) the 
significant judgment made by management, including the use of 
management’s experts, when developing the expected future cash 
flows to determine the recoverable amount and the proved and 
probable oil and gas reserves; and (ii) a high degree of auditor 
judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures 
and evaluating audit evidence relating to management’s 
estimates. 

Our approach to addressing the matter included the 
following procedures, among others: 

● The work of management’s experts was used in 
performing the procedures to evaluate the 
reasonableness of the proved and probable oil and 
gas reserves used to determine depletion charges 
and the recoverable amount of PP&E for the 
Canada, France and Malaysia segments. As a 
basis for using this work, management’s experts’ 
competence, capability and objectivity were 
evaluated, their work performed was understood 
and the appropriateness of their work as audit 
evidence was evaluated by considering the 
relevance and reasonableness of the 
assumptions, methods and findings. 
 

● Tested how management determined the 
recoverable amount and depletion charges for the 
Canada, France and Malaysia segments, which 
included the following: 

o Evaluated the appropriateness of the methods 
used by management in making these 
estimates. 

o Tested the data used in determining these 
estimates. 

o Evaluated the reasonableness of significant 
assumptions used in developing the 
underlying estimates: 
▪ Expected production volumes, future 

development costs and future production 
costs by considering the past 
performance of each segment, and 
whether these assumptions were 
consistent with evidence obtained in 
other areas of the audit. 

▪ Future oil and gas prices by comparing 
those prices with other reputable third-
party industry forecasts. 

▪ The discount rate, by performing an 
independent sensitivity analysis.  

o Recalculated the unit of production rates used 
to calculate depletion charges for the Canada, 
France and Malaysia segments.  



6

 
 

 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis.  

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Corporation or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation’s financial reporting 
process.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Corporation to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Corporation to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Luc Schulthess. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers SA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Luc Schulthess       Tarik Bouchama 
 
 
February 7, 2023 
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Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED

USD Thousands Note 2022 2021

Revenue 3 1,135,958 666,409

Cost of sales

Production costs 4 (483,646) (325,007)

Depletion and decommissioning costs 8 (122,041) (119,013)

Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets 9 (10,787) (10,108)

Exploration and business development costs (2,775) (1,960)

Gross profit 3 516,709 210,321

General, administration and depreciation expenses (14,440) (12,364)

Profit before financial items 502,269 197,957

Finance income 5 6,999 285 

Finance costs 6 (44,130) (30,499)

Net financial items (37,131) (30,214)

Profit before tax 465,138 167,743

Income tax expense 7 (127,413) (21,684)

Net result 337,725 146,059 

Net result attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent Company 337,683 146,028 

Non-controlling interest 42 31 

337,725 146,059 

Earnings per share – USD1 16 2.30 0.94

Earnings per share fully diluted – USD1 16 2.25 0.92

1  Based on net result attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED

USD Thousands Note 2022 2021

Net result 337,725 146,059

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Reclassification of hedging (gains) / losses to profit or 
loss 3, 23 (19,125) 33,592

Gains / (losses) on cash flow hedges 28,819 (31,253)

Income tax relating to these items (2,343) (562)

Currency translation adjustments (43,461) (5,409)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Re-measurements on defined pension plan 20 3,778 578

Total comprehensive income 305,393 143,005

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent Company 305,359 142,980

Non-controlling interest 34 25

305,393 143,005

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED

USD Thousands Note December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Oil and gas properties 8 963,375 971,571

Other tangible fixed assets 9 33,374 46,363

Right-of-use assets 10 1,217 1,639

Deferred tax assets 7 1,960 67,188

Other assets 11 41,125 35,753

Total non-current assets 1,041,051 1,122,514

Current assets

Inventories 12 15,958 20,195

Trade and other receivables 13 123,609 110,897

Derivative instruments 23 11,741 1,159

Current tax receivables 18 99

Cash and cash equivalents 14 487,240 18,810

Total current assets 638,566 151,160

TOTAL ASSETS 1,679,617 1,273,674

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities 18 8,711 109,219

Bonds 18 295,440 –

Lease liabilities 10 507 980

Provisions 19 203,389 198,811

Deferred tax liabilities 7 56,334 22,142

Total non-current liabilities 564,381 331,152

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21 118,726 79,841

Financial liabilities 18 3,431 1,806

Derivative instruments 23 1,155 –

Current tax liabilities 7 17,793 5,093

Lease liabilities 10 752 684

Provisions 19 8,048 7,555

Total current liabilities 149,905 94,979

EQUITY

Shareholders’ equity 965,140 847,386

Non-controlling interest 191 157

Net shareholders’ equity 965,331 847,543

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,679,617 1,273,674

Approved by the Board of Directors

(Signed) C. Ashley Heppenstall    (Signed) Mike Nicholson
Director       Director

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED

USD Thousands Note 2022 2021

Cash flow from operating activities

Net result 337,725 146,059

Adjustments for non-cash related items:

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 8,9,10 134,436 130,837 

Exploration costs 8 – 274

Income tax 7 127,413 21,684

Amortization of capitalized financing fees 6 3,252 2,068 

Foreign currency exchange 6 7,872 1,994 

Interest expense 6 20,689 12,867 

Interest income 5 (6,966) (254)

Unwinding of asset retirement obligation discount 6 10,758 11,488 

Change in pension liability 20 542 293 

Share-based costs 17 7,997 6,457 

Other 1,209 258 

Cash flow generated from operations (before 
working capital adjustments and income taxes) 644,927 334,025

Changes in working capital  (13,305) (36,115)

Decommissioning costs paid 19 (5,809) (3,945)

Other payments 19 (2,736) (1,507)

Income taxes received / (paid) (16,470)  425 

Interest received 6,656 251

Interest paid (11,445) (11,955)

Net cash flow from operating activities 601,818 281,179

Cash flow used in investing activities

Investment in oil and gas properties 8 (157,662) (43,990)

Investment in other fixed assets 9 (151) (242)

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (157,813) (44,232)

Cash flow from financing activities

Borrowings / (Repayments) 18 (100,979) (215,819)

Bonds issuance 300,000 –

Paid financing fees (5,583) (595)

Substantial Issuer Bid (“SIB”) 15 (100,957) –

Repurchase of own shares (“NCIB”) 15 (80,578) (7,293)

Other payments (793) (872)

Net cash (outflow) from financing activities 11,110 (224,579)

Change in cash and cash equivalents 455,115 12,368

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 18,810 6,498

Currency exchange difference in cash and cash 
equivalents 13,315 (56)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 487,240 18,810

   

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements                  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED

USD Thousands

Share 
capital and 
premium

Retained 
earnings CTA IFRS 2 

reserve
MTM 

reserve
Pension 
reserve Total

Non-
controlling 

interest

Total
equity

Balance at January 1, 2021 532,379 152,184 16,776 10,088 (877) (2,229) 708,321 132 708,453

Net result – 146,028 – – – – 146,028 31 146,059

Re-measurements on defined 
pension plan – – – – – 578 578 – 578

Cash flow hedge – – – – 1,777 – 1,777 – 1,777

Currency translation difference – – (5,485) (88) (26) 196 (5,403) (6) (5,409)

Total comprehensive income – 146,028 (5,485) (88) 1,751 774 142,980 25 143,005

Purchase of own shares1 (7,221) – – – – – (7,221) – (7,221) 

Share based payments 3,606 – – (300) – – 3,306 – 3,306

Balance at December 31, 2021 528,764 298,212 11,291 9,700 874 (1,455) 847,386 157 847,543

1 See Note 15

USD Thousands

Share 
capital and 
premium

Retained 
earnings CTA IFRS 2 

reserve
MTM 

reserve
Pension 
reserve Total

Non-
controlling 

interest

Total
equity

Balance at January 1, 2022 528,764 298,212 11,291 9,700 874 (1,455) 847,386 157 847,543

Net result – 337,683 – – – – 337,683 42 337,725

Re-measurements on defined 
pension plan – – – – – 3,778 3,778 – 3,778

Cash flow hedge – – – – 7,351 – 7,351 – 7,351

Currency translation difference – – (42,583) (791) (267) 188 (43,453) (8) (43,461)

Total comprehensive income – 337,683 (42,583) (791) 7,084 3,966 305,359 34 305,393

Repurchase of own shares1 (80,578) – – – – – (80,578) – (80,578)

Substantial Issuer Bid (“SIB”)1 (100,957) – – – – – (100,957) – (100,957)

Share based payments2 (8,510) – – 2,440 – – (6,070) – (6,070)

Balance at December 31, 2022 338,719 635,895 (31,292) 11,349 7,958 2,511 965,140 191 965,331

1  See Note 15

2 The second instalment of IPC RSP 2020 awards and the first instalment of IPC RSP 2021 awards vested on February 28, 2022, at a price of CAD 
8.93 per award. The difference between the value at vesting date and at grant (respectively CAD 4.35 per award and CAD 4.07 per award) was 
offset against share premium. The third instalment of IPC RSP 2019 awards and the IPC PSP 2019 awards vested on June 30, 2022, at a price of 
CAD 12.83 per award. The difference between the value at vesting date and at grant (respectively CAD 5.84 per award and CAD 4.28 per award) 
was offset against share premium. See also Note 17.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

A. The Group

International Petroleum Corporation (“IPC” or the “Corporation” and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is in the business 
of exploring for, developing and producing oil and gas. IPC holds a portfolio of oil and gas production assets and development 
projects in Canada, Malaysia and France with exposure to growth opportunities. 

The Corporation’s common shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) in Canada and the Nasdaq Stockholm 
Exchange in Sweden. The Corporation is incorporated and domiciled in British Columbia, Canada under the Business Corporations 
Act. The address of its registered office is Suite 2600, 595 Burrard Street, P.O. Box 49314, Vancouver, BC V7X 1L3, Canada and its 
business address is Suite 2000, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8, Canada.

B. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USD), which is the Group’s presentation and 
functional currency. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for items that are 
required to be accounted for at fair value as detailed in the Group’s accounting policies. Intercompany transactions and balances 
have been eliminated. Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statements presentation in 
the current year.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of IPC and authorized for issuance on 
February 7, 2023.

C. Going concern

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, have been prepared on a going concern 
basis, which assumes that the Group will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business 
as they become due in the foreseeable future.

D. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group applied the amended accounting standards, interpretations and annual 
improvement points that are effective as of January 1, 2022. The application of the amendments did not have a material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements. 

There are no plans for the early adoption of published standards, interpretations, or amendments prior to their mandatory effective 
date. The Group does not expect that other changes in IFRS will have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

E. Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control and are consolidated. The Corporation controls an entity when it is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. 

The non-controlling interest in a subsidiary represents the portion of the subsidiary not owned by Group companies. The equity of 
the subsidiary relating to the non-controlling shareholders is shown as a separate item within changes in net equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between companies are eliminated. Profits and losses 
resulting from intercompany transactions that are recognized in assets are also eliminated.

F. Joint Arrangements

Oil and gas operations of the Group are conducted as co-licencees in unincorporated joint ventures with other companies and are 
classified as joint operations. The consolidated financial statements reflect the relevant proportions of production, capital costs, 
operating costs and current assets and liabilities of the joint operation applicable to the Corporation’s interests.
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G. Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions and balances
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance 
sheet date and foreign exchange currency differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. Transactions 
in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented within finance income and costs in the consolidated statement of operations.

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the operational entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The functional currency of the Corporation’s 
operational entities are the USD, CAD, MYR and EUR. The consolidated financial statements are presented in USD which is the 
Corporation’s presentation currency. The balance sheets and income statements of foreign companies are translated using the 
current rate method. All assets and liabilities are translated at the balance sheet date rates of exchange, whereas the income 
statements are translated at average rates of exchange for the year, except for transactions where it is more relevant to use the 
rate of the day of the transaction. The translation differences which arise are recorded directly in net assets.

Exchange rates for the relevant currencies of the Group with respect to the US Dollar are as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Average Period end Average Period end

1 EUR equals USD 1.0539 1.0666 1.1835 1.1326

1 USD equals CAD 1.3015 1.3538 1.2536 1.2708

1 USD equals MYR 4.3995 4.4050 4.1433 4.1660

H. Classification of assets and liabilities

Non-current assets, long-term liabilities and provisions consist of amounts that are expected to be recovered or paid more than 
twelve months after the balance sheet date. Current assets and current liabilities consist solely of amounts that are expected to be 
recovered or paid within twelve months after the balance sheet date.

I. Oil and gas properties

Oil and gas properties are recorded at historical cost less depletion. All costs for acquiring concessions, licences or interests in 
production sharing contracts and for the survey, drilling and development of such interests are capitalized on a field area cost 
centre basis.

Costs directly associated with an exploration well are capitalized until the determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is determined 
that a commercial discovery has not been achieved, these exploration costs are charged to the income statement. During the 
exploration and development phases, no depletion is charged. The field will be transferred from the non-producing assets to the 
producing assets within oil and gas properties once production commences, and accounted for as a producing asset. Routine 
maintenance and repair costs for producing assets are expensed to the income statement when they occur.

Property, plant and equipment are depleted based on the year’s production in relation to estimated total proved and probable 
reserves of oil and gas in accordance with the unit of production method. Depletion of a field area is charged to the income 
statement through cost of sales once production commences.

Proved reserves are those quantities of petroleum which, by analysis of geological and engineering data, can be estimated 
with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable, from a given date forward, from known reservoirs and under current 
economic conditions, operating methods and governmental regulations. Proved reserves can be categorized as developed or 
undeveloped. If deterministic methods are used, the term reasonable certainty is intended to express a high degree of confidence 
that the quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 90 percent probability that the 
quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimates.

Probable reserves are those unproved reserves which analysis of geological and engineering data suggests are more likely than 
not to be recoverable. In this context, when probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 50 percent probability that 
the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum of estimated proved plus probable reserves.

Proceeds from the sale or farm-out of oil and gas concessions in the exploration stage are offset against the related capitalized 
costs of each cost centre with any excess of net proceeds over all costs capitalized included in the income statement. In the event 
of a sale in the exploration stage, any deficit is included in the income statement.

Impairment tests are performed annually or when there are indicators of impairment that suggest that the net book value of 
capitalized costs within each field area cost centre less any provision for asset retirement obligation costs, royalties and deferred 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, AUDITED
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production or revenue related taxes is higher than the anticipated future net cash flow from oil and gas reserves attributable to the 
Corporation’s interest in the related field areas. Capitalized costs cannot be carried unless those costs can be supported by future 
cash flows from that asset. Provision is made for any impairment, where the net carrying value, according to the above, exceeds 
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal, determined through estimated 
future discounted net cash flows using prices and cost levels used by management in their internal forecasting. If there is a 
decision to not continue with a field specific exploration program, the costs will be expensed at the time the decision is made.

J. Other tangible fixed assets

Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost includes the original purchase price of the 
asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Depreciation is based on cost 
and is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated economic life of 3 to 5 years for office equipment and other assets. 
The Floating Production Storage and Offloading (“FPSO”) located on the Bertam field, Malaysia, is being depreciated on a unit of 
production basis based on the Bertam field 2P reserves to August 2025 being the original PSC expiry date. 

Additional costs to existing assets are included in the assets’ net book value or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The net book value of any replaced parts is written off. Other additional expenses are deemed to be repair and 
maintenance costs and are charged to the income statement when they are incurred.

The net book value is written down immediately to its recoverable amount when the net book value is higher. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

K. Leases

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, equipment and cars. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 
5 years but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different 
terms and conditions. 

Right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities are recognized when the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each 
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the period so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present 
value of the fixed and variable lease payments and the exercise price of the purchase option. The lease payments are discounted 
using the incremental borrowing rate and are classified as finance leases. The right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising 
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease payments made and any initial direct costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense 
in profit or loss.

L. Impairment of Assets

At each balance sheet date or when there are facts and circumstances that suggest that the net book value of capitalized costs 
within each field area cost center is higher than anticipated future net cash flow from oil and gas reserves attributable to the 
Corporation’s interest in the related field areas, the Corporation performs an assessment as to whether there is an indication 
that an asset may be impaired. Management determined the recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment based on 
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use using estimated future discounted net cash flows of proved and 
probable  oil and gas reserves. The Corporation’s estimates of proved and probable oil and gas reserves used in the calculations for 
impairment tests and accounting for depletion have been reviewed by Management’s experts, specifically independent qualified 
reserves auditor.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In determining fair value less costs of 
disposal, recent market transactions are considered, if available. In the absence of such transactions, an appropriate valuation 
model is used. Value in use is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows to their present value using a discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. When the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying value an impairment loss is recognized with the expensed charge to the income statement. 
If indications exist that previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist or are decreased, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. When a previously recognized impairment loss is reversed the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
estimated recoverable amount but the increased carrying amount may not exceed the carrying amount after depreciation that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. If the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, the asset is tested as part of a CGU, 
which is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets or groups of assets. An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of the individual asset or CGU 
exceeds its recoverable amount.
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M. Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the consolidated balance sheet on the trade date, the date on which 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. All financial instruments are required to 
be classified and measured at fair value on initial recognition. Measurement in subsequent periods is dependent upon the 
classification of the financial instrument. The Group classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: 

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest are measured at amortized cost. The Group’s loans and receivables consist of fixed or determined cash flows related 
solely to principal and interest amounts or contractual sales of oil. The Group’s intent is to hold these receivables until cash flows 
are collected. Loans and receivables are recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”)
Financial assets measured at FVTPL are assets which do not qualify as financial assets at amortized cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income. 

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVTPL, or the Group has opted 
to measure them at FVTPL. Borrowings and accounts payable are recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs 
incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Financial Liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL are liabilities which include embedded derivatives and cannot be classified as amortized 
cost. 

Impairment of Financial Assets
The measurement of impairment of financial assets is based on the expected credit losses model. For the trade and other 
receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach which requires the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade 
receivables. In estimating the lifetime expected loss provision, the Group considered historical industry default rates as well as 
credit ratings of major customers. Additional disclosure related to the Group’s financial assets is included in Note 23.

N. Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
to their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a 
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of a 
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecasted transaction, hedges of the fair value of 
recognized assets and liabilities or a firm commitment, or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation. 

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and the hedged items, as 
well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions 
are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. The fair values of various derivative 
financial instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 23. Movements on the hedging reserve is reflected in other 
comprehensive income. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining 
maturity of the hedged item is more than twelve months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
hedged item is less than twelve months. 

Cash flow hedge 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized 
in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion, if any, is recognized immediately within finance 
income or costs. Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects 
profit or loss. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognized in the profit or loss. When a forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss that was reported in equity is immediately recognized in profit or loss.

O. Inventories

Inventories of consumable well supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, cost being determined on a 
weighted average cost basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable 
variable selling expenses. Inventories of hydrocarbons are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Under or overlifted 
positions of hydrocarbons are valued at market prices prevailing at the balance sheet date. An underlift of production from a field 
is included in the current receivables and valued at the reporting date spot price or prevailing contract price and an overlift of 
production from a field is included in the current liabilities and valued at the reporting date spot price or prevailing contract price. 
A change in the over or underlift position is reflected in the income statement as revenue.
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P. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and cash in hand.

Q. Provisions 

A provision is reported when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a consequence of a past event and when it is 
more likely than not that an outflow of resources is required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to passage of time is recognized as financial expense.

On fields where there is an obligation to contribute to asset retirement obligation costs, a provision is recorded to recognize the 
future commitment. An asset is created, as part of the oil and gas property, to represent the discounted value of the anticipated 
asset retirement obligation liability and depleted over the life of the field on a unit of production basis. The corresponding 
accounting entry to the creation of the asset recognizes the discounted value of the future liability. The discount applied to 
the anticipated asset retirement obligation liability is subsequently released over the life of the field and is charged to financial 
expenses. Changes in asset retirement obligation costs and reserves are treated prospectively and consistent with the treatment 
applied upon initial recognition.

R. Revenue and Other Operating Revenue

Revenue associated with the sale of crude oil and natural gas is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with 
a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control of 
the product or service to a customer, which is generally when title passes from the Group to its customer. The Group satisfies its 
performance obligations in contracts with customers upon the delivery of crude oil and natural gas, which is generally at a point in 
time and the amounts of revenue recognized relating to performance obligations satisfied over time are not significant.

Royalties payments to governments and other mineral interest owners are recognized as a cost in the revenue section.

Production and sales taxes directly attributable to fields, including export duties, are expensed in the income statement and 
classified as direct production taxes included within production costs. Production taxes payable in cash are accrued in the 
accounting period in which the liability arises.

Prior to April 2021, the Group recognized revenue from the FPSO in other operating revenue as earned from third party participants 
in the Bertam field, Malaysia. Other operating revenue also includes pipeline tariffs earned.

S. Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits such as salaries, social premiums and holiday pay, are expensed when incurred.

Pension obligations
The pension obligations consist of defined contribution plans for all companies within the Group except for one Swiss subsidiary, 
International Petroleum SA. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions. The 
Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognized as an expense 
when they are due.

International Petroleum SA has a defined benefit pension plan that is managed through a private pension plan. Independent 
actuaries determine the cost of the defined benefit plan on an annual basis, and the subsidiary pays the annual insurance premium. 
The pension plan provides benefits coverage to the employees of International Petroleum SA in the event of retirement, death or 
disability. International Petroleum SA and its employees jointly finance retirement and risk benefits. Employees of International 
Petroleum SA pay 40% of the savings contributions, of the risk contributions and of the cost contributions and International 
Petroleum SA contributes the difference between the total of all required pension plan contributions and the total of all employees’ 
contributions.

Share-based payments
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan under which the entity receives services from employees, 
directors and officers as consideration for equity instruments of the Corporation. Equity-settled share-based payments are 
recognized in the income statement as expenses during the vesting period and as equity in the balance sheet. The option is 
measured at fair value at the date of the grant using an appropriate options pricing model and is charged to the income statement 
over the vesting period without revaluation of the value of the option.
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T. Taxation

The components of tax are current and deferred. Tax is recognized in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is accounted for consistently with the 
related item.

Current tax is tax that is to be paid or received for the year in question and also includes adjustments of current tax attributable to 
previous periods.

Deferred income tax is a non-cash charge provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values. Temporary differences can occur for example where investment 
expenditure is capitalized for accounting purposes but the tax deduction is accelerated or where asset retirement obligation 
costs are provided for in the financial statements but not deductible for tax purposes until they are actually incurred. However, 
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a 
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Corporation and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized 
or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet where they relate to the same jurisdiction and 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset.

U. Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker, 
which, due to the unique nature of each country’s operations, commercial terms or fiscal environment, is at a country level. 

V. Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting whereby all identifiable assets and 
liabilities are recorded at their fair values as at the date of acquisition. Any excess purchase price over the aggregate fair value of 
net assets is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is identified and allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”), or groups of CGUs, that 
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized. Any excess of the aggregate fair value of 
net assets over the purchase price is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment at least annually or when events or circumstances indicate 
that an assessment for impairment is required. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU to which the 
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.

When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of that CGU, the impairment loss is allocated to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that CGU first, and then to the other assets of that CGU pro rata on the 
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in the consolidated 
statement of earnings. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal.
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s management has made assumptions 
and estimates about future events and applied judgments that affect the reported values of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses 
and related disclosures. The assumptions, estimates and judgments are based on historical experience, current trends and other 
factors that management believes to be relevant at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. On a regular 
basis, management reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to ensure that the consolidated 
financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with IFRS. However, because future events and their effects cannot be 
determined with certainty, actual results could differ from these assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be 
material.

Management believes the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Estimates in oil and gas reserves
Estimates of oil and gas reserves are used in the calculations for impairment tests and accounting for depletion and asset 
retirement obligation. Standard recognized evaluation techniques are used to estimate the proved and probable reserves. These 
techniques take into account the future level of development required to produce the reserves. An independent qualified reserves 
auditor reviews these estimates. Changes in estimates in oil and gas reserves, resulting in different future production profiles, will 
affect the discounted cash flows used in impairment testing, the anticipated date of site decommissioning and restoration and 
the depletion charges in accordance with the unit of production method. Changes in estimates in oil and gas reserves could for 
example result from additional drilling, observation of long-term reservoir performance or changes in economic factors such as oil 
price and inflation rates.

Impairment of oil and gas properties 
Key assumptions in the impairment models relate to prices and costs that are based on forward curves and the long-term 
corporate assumptions. Annual impairment tests are performed in conjunction with the annual reserves certification process. The 
impairment test requires the use of estimates. For the purpose of determining a potential impairment, the significant assumptions 
developed by management used to determine the recoverable amount include the proved and probable oil and gas reserves, 
expected production volumes, future oil and  gas prices, future development costs, future production costs and the discount rate. 
These assumptions and judgements of management that are based on them are subject to change as new information becomes 
available. Changes in economic conditions can also affect the rate used to discount future cash flow estimates and the discount 
rate applied is reviewed throughout the year.

Provision for asset retirement obligations 
Amounts used in recording a provision for asset retirement obligations are estimates based on current legal and constructive 
requirements and current technology and price levels for the removal of facilities and decommissioning. Due to changes in relation 
to these items, the future actual cash outflows in relation to the site decommissioning and restoration can be different. To reflect 
the effects due to changes in legislation, requirements and technology and price levels, the carrying amounts of asset retirement 
obligation provisions are reviewed on a regular basis.

Deferred income tax assets
The Group accounts for differences that arise between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax bases in 
accordance with IAS 12, Income Taxes, which requires deferred income tax assets only to be recognized to the extent that 
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. Management 
estimates future taxable profits based on the financial models used to value its oil and gas properties. Any change to the estimates 
and assumptions used for the key operational and financial variables used within the business models could affect the amount of 
deferred income tax assets recognized.

The effects of changes in estimates do not give rise to prior year adjustments and are treated prospectively over the estimated 
remaining commercial reserves of each field. While the Group uses its best estimates and judgement, actual results could differ 
from these estimates.

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination
The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, including contingent consideration and 
any goodwill, is estimated based on information available at the date of acquisition. Various valuation techniques are applied 
for measuring fair value including market comparables and discounted cash flows which rely on assumptions such as forward 
commodity prices, reserves and resources estimates, production costs and discount rates. Changes in these variables could 
significantly impact the carrying value of the net assets.
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group operates within several geographical areas. Operating segments are reported at a country level which is consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the CEO, who is the chief operating decision maker.

The following tables present segment information regarding: revenue, production costs, exploration and evaluation costs and gross 
profit. The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers primarily through the transfer of oil and gas at a point in time. 
In addition, certain identifiable asset segment information is reported in Note 8.

2022

USD Thousands Canada Malaysia France Other Total

Crude oil 778,365 184,143 112,379 – 1,074,887

NGLs 774 – – – 774

Gas 154,754 – – – 154,754

Net sales of oil and gas 933,893 184,143 112,379 – 1,230,415

Change in under/over lift position – – (8,553) – (8,553)

Royalties (105,856) – – – (105,856)

Hedging settlement 19,125 – – – 19,125

Other operating revenue 111 – 716 – 827

Revenue 847,273 184,143 104,542 – 1,135,958

Operating costs (217,017) (35,051) (42,248) – (294,316)

Cost of blending (189,172) – – – (189,172)

Change in inventory position 1,038 (1,916) 720 – (158)

Depletion and decommissioning costs (75,077) (34,687) (12,277) – (122,041)

Depreciation of other assets – (10,787) – – (10,787)

Exploration and business development costs 97 – – (2,872) (2,775)

Gross profit/(loss)  367,142 101,702 50,737 (2,872) 516,709

2021

USD Thousands Canada Malaysia France Other Total

Crude oil 458,690 100,436 75,949 – 635,075

NGLs 570 – – – 570

Gas 100,019 – – – 100,019

Net sales of oil and gas 559,279 100,436 75,949 – 735,664

Change in under/over lift position – – 5,391 – 5,391

Royalties (46,424) – – – (46,424)

Hedging settlement (33,592) – – – (33,592)

Other operating revenue 171 4,208 927 64 5,370

Revenue 479,434 104,644 82,267 64 666,409

Operating costs (181,297) (27,080) (39,852) – (248,229)

Cost of blending (78,434) – – – (78,434)

Change in inventory position 15 1,837 (196) – 1,656

Depletion and decommissioning costs (72,764) (30,156) (16,093) – (119,013)

Depreciation of other assets – (10,108) – – (10,108)

Exploration and business development costs (8) (259) (7) (1,686) (1,960)

Gross profit/(loss) 146,946 38,878 26,119 (1,622) 210,321
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USD Thousands

Assets Liabilities

2022 2021 2022 2021

Malaysia 251,059 342,636 34,573 200,519

France 209,088 175,479 120,095 106,346

Canada 1,246,105 1,135,017 560,709 695,051

Corporate 172,058 92,899 335,131 40,550

Other 128,218 128,331 (9,311) (15,647)

Intercompany balance elimination (326,912) (600,688) (326,912) (600,688)

Total Assets / Liabilities 1,679,616 1,273,674 714,285 426,131

Shareholders’ equity N/A N/A 965,140 847,386

Non-controlling interest N/A N/A 191 157

Total equity for the group N/A N/A 965,331 847,543

Total consolidated 1,679,616 1,273,674 1,679,616 1,273,674

4. PRODUCTION COSTS

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Cost of operations 245,360 203,537

Tariff and transportation expenses 36,873 33,879

Direct production taxes 12,083 10,813

Operating costs 294,316 248,229

Cost of blending1 189,172 78,434

Change in inventory position 158 (1,656) 

Total production costs 483,646 325,007

1  In Canada, oil production is blended with purchased condensate diluent to meet pipeline specifications. Cost of blending represents the contracted 
purchase of diluent used for blending.
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5. FINANCE INCOME

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Interest income 6,966 254 

Other financial income 33 31 

Total finance income 6,999 285 

6. FINANCE COSTS

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Foreign exchange loss, net 7,872 1,994 

Interest expense 20,689 12,867 

Unwinding of asset retirement obligation discount 10,758 11,488 

Amortization of loan fees 3,252 2,068 

Loan commitment fees 537 1,666 

Other financial costs 1,022 416 

Total finance costs 44,130 30,499 

7. INCOME TAX RECOVERY / (EXPENSE)

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Current tax (29,365) (4,670)

Deferred tax (98,048) (17,014)

Total tax recovery / (expense) (127,413) (21,684)

On September 30, 2022, the Council of the European Union (“EU“) agreed to impose an EU-wide windfall profits tax on energy
companies deriving income from operations in EU countries (“Solidarity Contribution”). In 2022, the current tax includes a Solidarity 
Contribution relating to the income in France amounting to USD 10,915 thousand.  

The deferred tax amount arises primarily where there is a difference in depletion for tax and accounting purposes. The deferred tax 
charge in the statement of operations for the current period mainly relates to the tax profit incurred and the tax losses used during 
the year 2022.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of Canada as follows:

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Profit before tax 465,138 167,743

Tax calculated at the corporate tax rate in Canada 25% (116,284) (41,936)

Effect of foreign and domestic tax rates 4,019 2,835

Tax effect of statutory rate change 191 904

Tax effect of recognition / (derecognition) of unrecorded tax losses (5,134) 12,614

Tax effect due to true-up of provision to prior year tax filings 531 1,324

France Solidarity Contribution (windfall tax) (10,915) –

Other 179 2,575

Total tax (127,413) (21,684)
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Specification of deferred tax assets and tax liabilities1

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Unused tax loss carry forward 32,815 115,560

Other 5,841 3,414

Deferred tax assets 38,656 118,974

Accelerated allowances 90,400 73,641

Other 2,630 287

Deferred tax liabilities 93,030 73,928

Deferred taxes, net (54,374) 45,046

1  The specification of deferred tax assets and tax liabilities does not agree to the face of the balance sheet due to the netting off of balances in the 
balance sheet when they relate to the same jurisdiction.

The deferred tax liabilities consist of accelerated allowances, being the difference between the book and the tax value of oil and 
gas properties. The deferred tax liabilities will be released over the life of the oil and gas assets as the book value is depleted for 
accounting purposes. 

Deferred tax assets in relation to tax loss carried forwards are only recognized in so far that there is a reasonable certainty as to
the timing and the extent of their realization. The recognized unused tax loss carry forward mainly relates to Canada. The Group
has concluded that the deferred assets will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based on the approved
business plans and budgets.

8. OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Exploration and Evaluation Assets                       4,764 18,037

Property, plant and Equipment 958,611 953,534

Oil and gas properties 963,375 971,571

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

USD Thousands Canada Malaysia France Total

Cost

January 1, 2022 12,751 181 5,105 18,037

Additions1 (802) 149 4 (649)

Reclassification (11,974) (330) – (12,304)

Currency translation adjustments 25 – (345) (320)

Net book value December 31, 2022 – – 4,764 4,764

USD Thousands Canada Malaysia France Total

Cost

January 1, 2021 15,409 44 5,533 20,986

Additions1 (2,723) 472 7 (2,244)

Expensed exploration and evaluation costs (8) (259) (7) (274)

Reclassification – (76) – (76)

Currency translation adjustments 73 – (428) (355)

Net book value December 31, 2021 12,751 181 5,105 18,037

1  Net revenues on appraisal projects are being offset against capitalised costs of Exploration and Evaluation assets.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

USD Thousands Canada Malaysia France Total

Cost

January 1, 2022 1,021,944 534,443 408,211 1,964,598

Additions 118,762 27,305 12,244 158,311

Change in estimates 5,231 4,528 2,182 11,941

Reclassification 11,974 330 – 12,304

Currency translation adjustments (68,122) – (23,400) (91,522)

December 31, 2022 1,089,789 566,606 399,237 2,055,632

Accumulated depletion

January 1, 2022 (267,585) (450,347) (293,132) (1,011,064)

Depletion charge for the period (75,077) (34,687) (12,277) (122,041)

Currency translation adjustments 19,389 – 16,695 36,084

December 31, 2022 (323,273) (485,034) (288,714) (1,097,021)

Net book value December 31, 2022 766,516 81,572 110,523 958,611

USD Thousands Canada Malaysia France Total

Cost

January 1, 2021 1,004,605 523,728 437,660 1,965,993

Additional working interest1 – 1,078 – 1,078

Additions 33,450 10,333 2,451 46,234

Change in estimates (18,174) (772) 1,594 (17,352)

Reclassification – 76 – 76

Currency translation adjustments 2,063 – (33,494) (31,431)

December 31, 2021 1,021,944 534,443 408,211 1,964,598

Accumulated depletion

January 1, 2021 (195,322) (420,191) (300,562) (916,075)

Depletion charge for the period (72,764) (30,156) (16,093) (119,013)

Currency translation adjustments 501 – 23,523 24,024

December 31, 2021 (267,585) (450,347) (293,132) (1,011,064)

Net book value December 31, 2021 754,359 84,096 115,079 953,534

1  Relates to the increased decommissioning liability relating to the additional 25% working interest acquired in 2021 in the Bertam field, Malaysia. 
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Impairment test
The Group carried out its impairment testing at December 31, 2022, on a CGU basis in conjunction with the annual reserves 
audit process. The Group used appropriate oil or natural gas price curves based on forward forecasts as at December 31, 2022, a 
future cost inflation factor of 2% (2021: 2%) per annum, production and cost profiles based on proved and probable reserves (2P 
reserves) as at December 31, 2022 and a discount rate of 10% (8.5% at December 31, 2021) to calculate the estimated future 
post-tax cash flows.

The following prices were used in the impairment testing as at December 31, 2022: 

Price Decks 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Average 
annual 

increase 
thereafter

Dated Brent (USD/bbl) 90.00 87.00 82.00 83.64 85.31 2%

West Texas Intermediate (USD/bbl) 86.00 84.00 80.00 81.60 83.23 2%

Western Canadian Select (USD/bbl) 66.00 71.50 67.25 68.60 69.97 2%

AECO Gas (CAD/mcf) 4.33 4.34 4.00 4.08 4.16 2%

In 2022, as a result of the testing, no impairment of the oil and gas properties was required.

Sensitivities were calculated on the valuation of the estimated future post-tax cash flows. Using a discount rate of 12% instead of 
10% or a USD 5/bbl decrease in the oil price curve or using a flat gas price curve at CAD 3.50/mcf did not result in an impairment 
charge. 

9. OTHER TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

USD Thousands FPSO Other Total

Cost

January 1, 2022 206,173 10,163 216,336

Additions – 151 151

Disposals – (44) (44)

Currency translation adjustments (1,320) (491) (1,811)

December 31, 2022 204,853 9,779 214,632

Accumulated depreciation

January 1, 2022 (162,524) (7,449) (169,973)

Depreciation charge for the period (10,787) (891) (11,678)

Disposals – 36 36

Currency translation adjustments – 357 357

December 31, 2022 (173,311) (7,947) (181,258)

Net book value December 31, 2022 31,542 1,832 33,374
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USD Thousands FPSO Other Total

Cost

January 1, 2021 208,063 10,413 218,476

Additions – 242 242

Disposals – (72) (72)

Currency translation adjustments (1,890) (420) (2,310)

December 31, 2021 206,173 10,163 216,336

Accumulated depreciation

January 1, 2021 (152,416) (6,862) (159,278)

Depreciation charge for the period (10,108) (979) (11,087)

Disposals – 72 72

Currency translation adjustments – 320 320

December 31, 2021 (162,524) (7,449) (169,973)

Net book value December 31, 2021 43,649 2,714 46,363

The FPSO located on the Bertam field, Malaysia, is being depreciated on a unit of production basis based on the Bertam field 2P 
reserves to August 2025 being the original PSC expiry date. The depreciation charge is included in the depreciation of other assets 
line in the statement of operations.

For office equipment and other assets, the depreciation charge for the year is based on cost and an estimated useful life of 3 to 
5 years. The depreciation charge is included within the general, administration and depreciation expenses in the statement of 
operations.

10. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

USD Thousands Buildings

January 1, 2022 1,639

Additions 393

Disposal (66)

Depreciation (717)

Currency translation adjustments (32)

Right-of-use-assets as at December 31, 2022 1,217

Current 752

Non-Current 507

Lease Liabilities as at December 31, 2022 1,259
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USD Thousands Buildings

January 1, 2021 1,965

Additions 434

Depreciation (737)

Currency translation adjustments (23)

Right-of-use-assets as at December 31, 2021 1,639

Current 684

Non-Current 980

Lease Liabilities as at December 31, 2021 1,664

11. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Long-term receivables  28,154    28,024

Financial assets  12,971    7,729

41,125 35,753

Long-term receivables represent cash payments made to an asset retirement obligation fund and financial assets include 
secured amounts of USD 7.7 million transferred for the future asset retirement obligation, in respect of the Bertam field, 
Malaysia. In 2022, an amount of USD 1.9 million was paid into the asset retirement obligation fund which is held in local 
currency. (Also see Note 19.)

12. INVENTORIES

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Hydrocarbon stocks  8,988    8,355

Well supplies and operational spares  6,970    11,840

15,958 20,195

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Trade receivables  112,696     91,062    

Underlift  599     9,827    

Joint operations debtors  982     1,930    

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  6,585     6,325    

Other  2,747     1,753    

123,609 110,897

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include only cash at hand or held in bank accounts. As at December 31, 2022, an amount of USD 4 
million is restricted. (Also see Note 18.)
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15. SHARE CAPITAL

The Group’s issued common share capital is as follows:

Number of shares

Balance at January 1, 2021 155,342,757

Stock option exercise 25,000

Cancellation of repurchased common shares (169,652)

Balance at December 31, 2021 155,198,105

Cancellation following the Substantial Issuer Bid (8,258,064)

Cancellation of repurchased common shares (10,112,042)

Balance at December 31, 2022 136,827,999

The common shares of IPC trade on both the Toronto Stock Exchange and the Nasdaq Stockholm. 

As at January 1, 2021, IPC had a total of 155,342,757 common shares issued and outstanding. Following the exercise of stock 
options during February 2021, the number of issued and outstanding common shares of the Corporation increased by 25,000 to 
155,367,757 common shares. On December 1, 2021, IPC announced the commencement of a share repurchase program. During 
the period up to December 31, 2021, IPC repurchased an aggregate of 1,330,303 common shares, of which 169,652 shares 
were cancelled as at December 31, 2021. As at December 31, 2021, IPC had a total of 155,198,105 common shares issued and 
outstanding with voting rights. 

On May 12, 2022 and June 10, 2022, IPC announced the terms of the Substantial Issuer Bid (“SIB“) to purchase for cancellation 
up to CAD 128 million of its common shares commencing on May 16, 2022 and expiring on June 28, 2022. On June 29, 2022, IPC 
announced the results of its SIB and in July 2022, IPC cancelled 8,258,064 common shares repurchased under the SIB for a total 
amount of CAD 128 million.

During 2022, under the  normal course issuer bid / share repurchase program announced in December 2021 and renewed in 
December 2022 (NCIB), IPC purchased an aggregate of 8,951,391 common shares and cancelled an aggregate of 10,112,042 
common shares.

As at December 31, 2022, IPC has a total of 136,827,999 common shares issued and outstanding with no par value and with no 
common shares held treasury.

In addition, IPC has 117,485,389 outstanding class A preferred shares, issued as a part of an internal corporate structuring to a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of IPC. Such preferred shares are not listed on any stock exchange, do not carry the right to vote on 
matters to be decided by the holders of IPC’s common shares and does not impact the earnings per share calculations.

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are based on net result attributable to the common shareholders and is calculated based upon the 
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the periods presented.

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Net result attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company, USD 337,682,813 146,028,617

Weighted average number of shares for the period 146,662,032 155,363,445

Earnings per share, USD 2.30 0.94

Weighted average diluted number of shares for the period 149,976,365 158,432,436

Earnings per share fully diluted, USD 2.25 0.92

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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17. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

IPC Share Unit Plan
The shareholders of IPC at the 2018 Annual General Meeting and at the 2021 Annual General Meeting approved a Share Unit Plan.
Awards under the plan will be accounted from the date of grant.

The IPC Performance Share Plan (“PSP”) 2019 awards vested on June 30, 2022 at a price of CAD 12.83 per award.

The IPC PSP 2020 awards are subject to continued employment and to certain performance conditions being met. The total 
outstanding number of awards at December 31, 2022, is 1,017,105 which vest on March 1, 2023. Each award was fair valued 
at the grant date at CAD 3.65 using an adjusted share price calculated with a hybrid valuation model based on the Monte Carlo 
simulation. The assumptions used in the calculation of the adjusted share price were a risk free rate of -0.39%, expected volatility 
of 47%, dividend yield rate of 0%, and an exercise price of CAD zero.

The IPC PSP 2021 awards are subject to continued employment and to certain performance conditions being met. The total 
outstanding number of awards at December 31, 2022, is 1,716,000 which vest on March 1, 2024. Each award was fair valued 
at the grant date at CAD 3.61 using an adjusted share price calculated with a hybrid valuation model based on the Monte Carlo 
simulation. The assumptions used in the calculation of the adjusted share price were a risk free rate of 0.45%, expected volatility 
of 68%, dividend yield rate of 0%, and an exercise price of CAD zero.

The IPC PSP 2022 awards are subject to continued employment and to certain performance conditions being met. The total 
outstanding number of awards at December 31, 2022, is 937,000 which vest on March 1, 2025. Each award was fair valued at 
the grant date at CAD 8.40 using an adjusted share price calculated with a hybrid valuation model based on the Monte Carlo 
simulation. The assumptions used in the calculation of the adjusted share price were a risk free rate of 0.38%, expected volatility 
of 45%, dividend yield rate of 0%, and an exercise price of CAD zero.

IPC Performance Share Plan 2019 Awards 2020 Awards 2021 Awards 2022 Awards Total

Outstanding at January 1, 2022 860,349 1,017,105 1,716,000 – 3,593,454

Awarded during the period – – – 937,000 937,000

Forfeited during the period – – – – –

Vested during the period (860,349) – – – (860,349)

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 – 1,017,105 1,716,000 937,000 3,670,105

Vesting date

March 1, 2023 – 1,017,105 – – 1,017,105

March 1, 2024 – – 1,716,000 – 1,716,000

March 1, 2025 – – – 937,000 937,000

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 – 1,017,105 1,716,000 937,000 3,670,105

The last third of the IPC Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) 2019 awards vested on June 30, 2022, at a price of CAD 12.83 per award.

The second third of the IPC RSP 2020 awards vested on March 1, 2022, at a price of CAD 8.93 per award. The total outstanding 
number of 2020 awards under the IPC RSP as at December 31, 2022, is 199,304 which vest on March 1, 2023, subject to 
continued employment. Each award was fair valued at the grant date at CAD 4.35

The first third of the IPC RSP 2021 awards vested on March 1, 2022, at a price of CAD 8.93 per award. The total outstanding 
number of 2021 awards under the IPC RSP as at December 31, 2022, is 674,225 which vest over two years on each of March 1, 
2023 and March 1, 2024, subject to continued employment. Each award was fair valued at the grant date at CAD 4.07.

The total outstanding number of IPC RSP 2022 awards as at December 31, 2022, is 484,534 which vest over three years as to 
one-third on each of March 1, 2023, March 1, 2024, and March 1, 2025, subject to continued employment. Each award was fair 
valued at the grant date at CAD 9.09.
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IPC Restricted Share Plan 2019 Awards 2020 Awards 2021 Awards 2022 Awards Total

Outstanding at January 1, 2022 132,142 404,410 1,036,773 – 1,573,325

Awarded during the period – – – 484,534 484,534

Forfeited during the period (5,881) (4,077) (22,924) – (32,882)

Vested during the period (126,261) (201,029) (339,624) – (666,914)

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 – 199,304 674,225 484,534 1,358,063

Vesting date

March 1, 2023 – 199,304 337,112 161,511 697,927

March 1, 2024 – – 337,113 161,511 498,624

March 1, 2025 – – – 161,512 161,512

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 – 199,304 674,225 484,534 1,358,063

Under the IPC Share Unit Plan, the Group allows non-employee directors of the Corporation to elect for awards for fees for 
services performed as a director and otherwise payable in cash. These awards will vest immediately at the time of grant. However, 
these awards may not be redeemed before the end of service as a director of the Corporation. The 2019 outstanding RSP awards 
as at December 31, 2022 is 10,703 awards issued with a fair value at the grant date at CAD 5.76. The 2020 outstanding RSP 
awards as at December 31, 2022 is 25,335 awards issued with a fair value at the grant date at CAD 2.56, and 21,216 awards 
issued with a fair value at the grant date at CAD 2.85. The 2021 outstanding RSP awards as at December 31, 2022 is 10,067 
awards issued with a fair value at the grant date at CAD 5.75, and 12,543 awards issued with a fair value at the grant date at CAD 
6.95. The 2022 outstanding RSP awards as at December 31, 2022 is 5,487 awards issued with a fair value at the grant date at CAD 
12.80, and 2,072 awards issued with a fair value at the grant date at CAD 15.53. In 2022, 24,565 awards issued in 2020 and 8,100 
awards issued in 2021 have been redeemed at a price of CAD 8.30.

The total outstanding RSP awards to non-employee directors outstanding as at December 31, 2022, is 87,423. 

The costs charged to the statement of operations of the Group for the Share-Based payments are summarized in the following 
table:

USD Thousands 2022 2021

IPC PSP – 2018 Awards – 337

IPC RSP – 2018 Awards – 81

IPC PSP – 2019 Awards 488 984

IPC RSP – 2019 Awards 90 397

IPC PSP – 2020 Awards 984 984

IPC RSP – 2020 Awards 252 643

IPC PSP – 2021 Awards 1,712 1,431

IPC RSP – 2021 Awards 981 1,599

IPC PSP – 2022 Awards 1,721 –

IPC RSP – 2022 Awards 1,769 –

7,997 6,457

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Bank loans 12,142  113,121    

Bonds 300,000 –

Capitalized financing fees (4,560) (2,096)

307,582  111,025    

As at January 2022, IPC had an outstanding EUR 13 million unsecured credit facility in France (the “France Facility“), with maturity 
in May 2026. IPC commenced quarterly repayments of the French Facility in August 2022. The amount remaining outstanding 
under the France Facility as at December 31, 2022 was USD 12 million (EUR 11 million). 
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As at January 2022, the Group had a reserve-based lending (RBL) credit facility of USD 140 million in connection with its oil and 
gas assets in France and Malaysia and a RBL credit facility of CAD 300 million in connection with its oil and gas assets in Canada. 

In February 2022, IPC completed the issuance of USD 300 million of Bonds, which mature in February 2027 and have a fixed 
coupon rate of 7.25% per annum, payable in semi-annual instalments in August and February. The Group used a portion of the 
proceeds of the Bonds to fully repay the outstanding RBL credit facilities, which were then cancelled. At the same time, the Group 
entered into a revolving credit facility of CAD 75 million (the “Canadian RCF”) in connection with its oil and gas assets in Canada. 
The Canadian RCF has a maturity of February 2024 and no cash amounts were drawn under the Canadian RCF as at December 31, 
2022.

The Bonds repayment obligations as at December 31, 2022 as at December 31, 2022, are classified as non-current as there are no 
mandatory repayments within the next twelve months. An amount of USD 3.4 million (EUR 3.2 million) drawn under the France 
Facility as at December 31, 2022 is classified as current representing the repayment planned within the next twelve months.

The Group is in compliance with the covenants of the Bonds and its financing facilities as at December 31, 2022.

The net (debt)/cash and the movements in net (debt)/cash can be summarized as follows:

USD Thousands Cash Lease
liabilities

Bank loans due 
before 1 year

Bank loans 
due 

after 1 year
Bonds due 
after 1 year Total

Net (debt)/cash as at January 1, 2022 18,810 (1,664) (1,806) (111,315) – (95,975)

Bonds – – – – (300,000) (300,000)

France Facility – – (1,625) 1,625 – –

Cash flows 455,115 – – 100,979 – 556,094

Lease liabilities – 405 – – – 405

Currency translation adjustments 13,315 – – – – 13,315

Net (debt)/cash as at December 31, 2022 487,240 (1,259) (3,431) (8,711) (300,000) 173,839

Net cash (excluding lease liabilities) 175,098

USD Thousands Cash Lease
liabilities

Bank loans due 
before 1 year

Bank loans due 
after 1 year Total

Net (debt)/cash as at January 1, 2021 6,498 (2,018) (22,982) (304,709) (323,211)

Granite Facility – – 22,982 – 22,982

France Facility – – (1,806) 1,806 –

Cash flows 12,368 – – 192,837 205,205

Lease liabilities – 354 – – 354

Currency translation adjustments (56) – – (1,249) (1,305)

Net (debt)/cash as at December 31, 2021 18,810 (1,664) (1,806) (111,315) (95,975)

Net (debt)/cash (excluding lease liabilities) (94,311)
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19. PROVISIONS

USD Thousands
Asset 

retirement 
obligation

Farm-in 
obligation

Pension 
obligation Other Total

January 1, 2022 196,362 4,199 4,448 1,357 206,366

Additions – – 542 1,034 1,576

Unwinding of asset retirement obligation discount 10,758 – – – 10,758

Changes in estimates 11,375 567 (3,778) – 8,164

Payments (5,809) (1,153) (718) (865) (8,545)

Reclassification 1 1,909 – – – 1,909

Currency translation adjustments (8,346) (209) (188) (48) (8,791)

December 31, 2022 206,249 3,404 306 1,478 211,437

Non-current 199,335 2,270 306 1,478 203,389

Current 6,914 1,134 – – 8,048

Total 206,249 3,404 306 1,478 211,437

1 The reclassification of the asset retirement obligation related to the 2022 payment to the asset retirement obligation fund in respect of the Bertam 
asset, Malaysia (see Note 11).

USD Thousands
Asset 

retirement 
obligation

Farm-in 
obligation

Pension 
obligation Other Total

January 1, 2021 192,701 4,350 5,558 1,540 204,149

Additions1 15,993 – 293 159 16,445

Unwinding of asset retirement obligation discount 11,488 – – – 11,488

Changes in estimates (17,952) 600 (578) – (17,930)

Payments (3,945) (601) (629) (277) (5,452)

Reclassification2 1,414 – – – 1,414

Currency translation adjustments (3,337) (150) (196) (65) (3,748)

December 31, 2021 196,362 4,199 4,448 1,357 206,366

Non-current 190,607 2,399 4,448 1,357 198,811

Current 5,755 1,800 – – 7,555

Total 196,362 4,199 4,448 1,357 206,366
1  The addition of USD 15,993 thousand relates to the increased decommissioning liability relating to the additional 25% working interest in the
 Bertam field, Malaysia acquired in April 2021. The majority of this additional liability is covered by secured amounts provided on assignment of the 

working interest. (See also Note 11). 
2 The reclassification of the asset retirement obligation related to the 2021 payment to the asset retirement obligation fund in respect of the Bertam 

asset, Malaysia (see Note 11).

The farm-in obligation relates to future payments for historic costs on Block PM307 in Malaysia payable on reaching certain Bertam 
field production milestones. 

In calculating the present value of the asset retirement obligation provision, a blended rate of 6% (2021: 6%) per annum was used, 
based on a credit risk adjusted rate.
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20. PENSION LIABILITY

The Group operates a pension plan for employees in Switzerland that is managed through a private pension plan. The amount 
recognized in the balance sheet associated with the Swiss pension plan is as follows:

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Present value of defined benefit obligation 13,910 14,714

Fair value of plan assets (13,604) (10,266)

Pension obligation, ending balance 306 4,448

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

USD Thousands
For the year ended
December 31, 2022

For the year ended
December 31, 2021

Opening balance 14,714 15,316

Current service cost 596 636

Additional contributions paid by employees 2,291 237

Ordinary contributions paid by employees 479 419

Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 28 29

Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation (3,706) (552)

Administration costs 13 13

Benefits paid from plan assets (232) (485)

Past service cost (75) (366)

Foreign exchange loss (198) (533)

Defined benefit obligation, ending balance 13,910 14,714

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 15.5 years. There is no maturity profile since the average 
remaining life before active employees reach final age according to the plan is 10.3 years.

The movement in the fair value of the plan assets over the year is as follows:

USD Thousands
For the year ended
December 31, 2022

For the year ended
December 31, 2021

Opening balance 10,266 9,758

Additional contributions paid by employees 2,291 237

Ordinary contributions paid by employer 718 629

Ordinary contributions paid by employees 479 419

Interest income on plan assets 20 19

Return on plan assets excluding interest income 71 26

Foreign exchange gain (9) (337)

Benefits paid from plan assets (232) (485)

Fair value of plan assets, ending balance 13,604 10,266

The plan assets are under an insurance contract comprised entirely of free funds and reserves, such as fluctuation reserves and 
employer contribution reserves, for which there is no quoted price in an active market.
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The amount recognized in the income statement associated with the Group’s pension plan is as follows:

USD Thousands
For the year ended
December 31, 2022

For the year ended
December 31, 2021

Current service cost 596 636

Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 28 29

Administration costs 13 13

Past service cost (75) (366)

Interest income on plan assets (20) (19)

Total expense recognized 542 293

The expense associated with the Group’s pension plan of USD 542 thousand was included within general and administrative 
expenses. The Group also recognized in other comprehensive income a USD 3,778 thousand net actuarial gain on defined benefit 
obligations and pension plan assets.  

The principal actuarial assumptions used to estimate the Group’s pension obligation are as follows:

USD Thousands
For the year ended
December 31, 2022

For the year ended
December 31, 2021

Discount rate 2.25% 0.20%

Inflation rate 1.25% 1.00%

Future salary increase 1.25% 1.00%

Future pension increases 0.00% 0.00%

Retirement ages, male (‘M’) and female (‘F’) M65/F64 M65/F64

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with the BVG 2020 GT generational 
published statistics and experience in Switzerland. The discount rate is determined by reference to the yield on high quality 
corporate bonds. The rate of inflation is based on the expected value of future annual inflation adjustments in Switzerland. The rate 
for future salary increases is based on the average increase in the salaries paid by the Group, and the rate of pension increases is 
based on the annual increase in risk, retirement and survivors’ benefits. 

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

Change in
assumption

Increase in
assumption

Decrease in
assumption

Discount rate 0.50% Decrease by 7.1% Increase by 8.0%

Salary growth rate 0.50% Increase by 0.3% Decrease by 0.3%

Life Expectancy One year Increase by 0.9% Decrease by 0.9%

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, 
this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the 
defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same method has been applied as when calculating the pension 
liability recognized within the consolidated balance sheet.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Trade payables  20,547     9,043    

Joint operations creditors  14,348     20,201    

Accrued expenses  78,206     45,329    

Other  5,625     5,268    

118,726 79,841
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial assets and liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

December 31, 2022
USD Thousands

Total
Financial assets 

at amortized 
cost

Fair value 
recognized in 
profit or loss 

(FVTPL)

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging

Other assets1 41,125 41,125 – –

Derivative instruments 11,741 – – 11,741

Joint operation debtors 982 982 – –

Other current receivables2 116,060 115,461 599 –

Cash and cash equivalents 487,240 487,240 – –

Financial assets 657,148 644,808 599 11,741

1  See Note 11.
2  Prepayments are not included in other current assets, as prepayments are not deemed to be financial instruments.

December 31, 2022
USD Thousands

Total
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortized cost

Fair value 
recognized in 
profit or loss 

(FVTPL)

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging

Non-current financial liabilities 304,151 304,151 – –

Current financial liabilities 3,431 3,431 – –

Derivative instruments 1,155 – – 1,155

Joint operation creditors 14,348 14,348 – –

Other current liabilities 122,171 122,171 – –

Financial liabilities 445,256 444,101 – 1,155

December 31, 2021
USD Thousands

Total
Financial
assets at 

amortized cost

Fair value 
recognized in 
profit or loss 

(FVTPL)

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging

Other assets1 35,753 35,753 – –

Derivative instruments 1,159 – – 1,159

Joint operation debtors 1,930 1,930 – –

Other current receivables2 102,741 92,914 9,827 –

Cash and cash equivalents 18,810 18,810 – –

Financial assets 160,393 149,407 9,827 1,159
1  See Note 11.
2  Prepayments are not included in other current assets, as prepayments are not deemed to be financial instruments.

December 31, 2021
USD Thousands

Total
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortized cost

Fair value 
recognized in 
profit or loss 

(FVTPL)

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging

Non-current financial liabilities 109,219 109,219 – –

Current financial liabilities 1,806 1,806 – –

Joint operation creditors 20,201 20,201 – –

Other current liabilities 64,733 64,733 – –

Financial liabilities 195,959 195,959 – –
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The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets approximate their fair values at the balance sheet dates.

 For financial instruments measured at fair value in the balance sheet, the following fair value measurement hierarchy is used:
  – Level 1: based on quoted prices in active markets;
  – Level 2: based on inputs other than quoted prices as within level 1, that are either directly or indirectly observable;
  – Level 3: based on inputs which are not based on observable market data.

Based on this hierarchy, financial instruments measured at fair value can be detailed as follows:

December 31, 2022
USD Thousands

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Other current receivables 599 – –

Derivative instruments – current – 11,741 –

Financial assets 599 11,741 –

Derivative instruments – current – 1,155 –

Financial liabilities – 1,155 –

December 31, 2021
USD Thousands

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Other current receivables 9,827 – –

Derivative instruments – current – 1,159 –

Financial assets 9,827 1,159 –

Derivative instruments – current – – –

Financial liabilities – – –

23. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK

The Corporation’s financial instruments are exposed to certain financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange 
risk, commodity price risk and interest rate risk. 

a) Credit risk

The exposure to credit risk arises through the failure of a customer or another third party to meet its contractual obligations to the 
Corporation. The Corporation believes that its maximum exposure to credit risk as at December 31, 2022, is the carrying value of 
its trade receivables. The Group’s policy is to limit credit risk by limiting the counterparties to major oil and gas companies. Where 
it is determined that there is a credit risk for oil and gas sales, the policy is to require an irrevocable letter of credit for the full value 
of the sale. The policy on joint operation parties is to rely on the provisions of the underlying joint operating agreements to take 
possession of the licence or the partner’s share of production for non-payment of cash calls or other amounts due.

As at December 31, 2022, the trade receivables amounted to USD 112,696 thousand and there is no recent history of default. The 
expected credit loss associated with these receivables is not significant. Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with banks 
having strong long-term credit ratings.

b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group could not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or at a reasonable 
price. Corporation treasury is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as settlement management. The Corporation has in 
place a planning and forecasting process to help determine the funds required to support the Corporation’s normal operating 
requirements on an ongoing basis. The Corporation ensures that there is sufficient available capital to meet its short-term business 
requirements, taking into account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash and cash equivalents, 
including bond proceeds. The Corporation has credit facilities in place to assist with meeting its cash flow needs as required (Note 
18).

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. Loan repayments are made upon a net present value calculation of the assets’ 
future cash flows. No loan repayments are currently forecast under this calculation.
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USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Non-current

Repayment within 2 - 5 years:

  - Bank loans 8,711 111,315

  - Bonds 300,000    – 

308,711 111,315

Current

Repayment within 6 to 12 months:

 - Bank loans 3,431 1,806

Repayment within 6 months:

  - Trade payables 20,547 9,043 

  - Joint operation creditors 14,348 20,201 

  - Other current liabilities 5,625 5,268 

  - Current tax liabilities 17,793 5,093 

61,744 41,411 

c) Foreign exchange risk 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currencies, primarily with respect 
to EUR and CAD. The Group’s risk management objective is to manage cash flow risk related to foreign denominated cash flows. 
The Corporation is exposed to currency risk related to changes in rates of exchange between foreign denominated balances and 
the functional currencies of the Group’s principal operating subsidiaries. The Group’s revenues are denominated in US dollars, 
while most of its operating and capital expenditures are denominated in the local currencies. A significant change in the currency 
exchange rates between the US dollar and foreign currencies could have a material effect on the Group’s net earnings and on other 
comprehensive income.

In October 2022, IPC entered into currency hedge swaps for 2023 to buy CAD 15 million per month, sell USD at an average 
exchange rate of 1.3619 and to buy EUR 3 million per month, sell USD at an average exchange rate of 1.0000. This is to partially 
fund operational expenditures in those currencies in Canada and France respectively. 

The above hedges are treated as effective and changes to the fair value are reflected in other comprehensive income.

The outstanding derivative instruments can be specified as follows:

Fair value of outstanding derivative instruments in the balance sheet 

USD Thousands

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Currency hedge - CAD 1,084 – – –

Currency hedge - EUR 2,886 – – –

Total 3,970 – – –

Non-current – – – –

Current 3,970 – – –

Total 3,970 – – –

The following tables summarize the effects that changes in currencies against the US Dollar would have on operating result and 
equity through the conversion of the income statements of the Group’s subsidiaries from functional currency to the presentation 
currency US Dollar for the years ended at December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Shift of currency exchange rates
USD Thousands

Average rate
2022

USD weakening
10%

USD strengthening 
10%

Operating profit in the financial statements 502,269 502,269

EUR/USD 0.9489 0.8626 1.0437

CAD/USD 1.3015 1.1832 1.4317

Total effect on operating profit (41,376) 41,376

Shift of currency exchange rates
USD Thousands

Average rate
2021

USD weakening
10%

USD strengthening 
10%

Operating profit in the financial statements 197,956 197,956

EUR /USD 0.8450 0.7681 0.9294

CAD/USD 1.2536 1.1396 1.3790

Total effect on operating profit (16,961) 16,961

d) Commodity price risk 

The Group is subject to price risk associated with fluctuations in the market prices for oil and gas. Prices of oil and gas are affected by 
the normal economic drivers of supply and demand as well as the financial investors and market uncertainty. Factors that influence 
these include operational decisions, natural disasters, economic conditions, political instability or conflicts or actions by major oil 
exporting countries. Price fluctuations can affect the Corporation’s financial position.

Commodity price risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in the price of oil and natural gas. 
Commodity prices are impacted by world economic events that affect supply and demand, which are generally beyond the Group’s 
control. Changes in crude oil prices may significantly affect the Corporation’s results of operations, cash generated from operating 
activities, capital spending and the Corporation’s ability to meet its obligations. The majority of the Corporation’s production is sold 
under short-term contracts; consequently the Group is at risk to near term price movements. The Corporation manages this risk by 
constantly monitoring commodity prices and factoring them into operational decisions, such as contracting or expanding its capital 
expenditures program. 

The Corporation enters into certain risk management contracts in order to manage the exposure to market risks from fluctuations 
in commodity prices. These risk management contracts are not used for trading or speculative purposes. The Corporation has 
designated its risk management contracts as effective accounting hedges, and thus has applied hedge accounting. As a result, all 
risk management contracts are recorded at fair value at each reporting period with the change in fair value being recognized on the 
statement of comprehensive income.

The Group had gas price sale financial hedges outstanding as at December 31, 2022, which are summarized as follows:

Period Volume (Gigajoules 
(GJ) per day) Type Average Pricing

January 1, 2023 – March 31, 2023 35,000 AECO Swap CAD 6.03/GJ

April 1, 2023 – October 31, 2023 35,000 AECO Swap CAD 3.95/GJ

The Group had oil price sale financial hedges outstanding as at December 31, 2022, which are summarized as follows:

Period Volume (barrels per day) Type Average Pricing 

January 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023 12,000 WCS/ARV Differential USD - 10.08/bbl

All of the above hedges are treated as effective and changes to the fair value are reflected in other comprehensive income.
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The outstanding derivative instruments can be specified as follows:

Fair value of outstanding derivative instruments in the balance sheet 

USD Thousands

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Oil price hedge – 1,155 – –

Gas price hedge 7,771 – 1,159 –

Total 7,771 1,155 1,159 –

Non-current – – – –

Current 7,771 1,155 1,159 –

Total 7,771 1,155 1,159 –

In addition to the outstanding derivative instruments in the balance sheet disclosed above, an amount of USD 19,125 thousand was 
recognised in the statement of operations in relation to settled oil and gas derivatives.

The table below summarizes the effect that a change in the oil and gas price would have had on the net result and equity at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 Net result (USD Thousands) 337,725 337,725

Possible shift (%) (10%) 10%

Total effect on net income (USD Thousands) (91,032) 91,032

2021 Net result (USD Thousands) 146,059 146,059

Possible shift (%) (10%) 10%

Total effect on net income (USD Thousands) (54,368) 54,368

e) Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from both the interest rate impact on its cash and cash equivalents as well as on its 
debt facilities. As at December 31, 2022, the Group’s long-term debt is mainly comprised of a fixed coupon rate of 7.25%. As such, 
changes in interest rate will not have an adverse impact on interest expense.

24. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL RISK

The objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to meet its committed 
work program requirements in order to create shareholder value. The Corporation may put in place new credit facilities, repay debt, or 
other such restructuring activities as appropriate. Management continuously monitors and manages the capital and liquidity position in 
order to assess the requirement for changes to the capital structure to meet the objectives and to maintain flexibility. 

No significant changes were made in the objectives, policies or procedures during the year ended December 31, 2022 or in the 
comparative periods.

Through the ongoing management of its capital, the Corporation will modify the structure of its capital based on changing economic 
conditions in the jurisdictions in which it operates. In doing so, the Corporation may issue new shares or debt, buy back issued 
shares, or pay off any outstanding debt.
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25. SALARY AND OTHER COMPENSATION EXPENSES

a) Employee compensation expenses

The following table provides a breakdown of gross salaries, short-term benefits, share-based compensation and other compensation 
expenses included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss):

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Salaries, bonuses and other short-term benefits 45,073 44,033

Security social costs 7,040 5,556

Share-based incentive plans1 7,997 6,457

60,110 56,046

1 Vested during the period and based on IFRS 2 valuation (see Note 17)

b) Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management includes all amounts earned and awarded to the Group’s Board of Directors and 
Senior Management. Senior Management includes the Group’s President and Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, General 
Counsel and Corporate Secretary, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice President Canada, Vice President of Asset Management and 
Corporate Planning Canada and Vice President of Corporate Planning and Investor Relations.

Directors’ fees include Board and Committee fees. Senior Management’s remuneration includes salary, short-term benefits, bonuses 
and any other compensation earned in 2021 and in 2022. 

USD Thousands 2022 2021

Directors’ fees 597 650

Senior Management’s salaries, bonuses and other short-term benefits 5,790 4,818

Share-based incentive plans paid to Senior Management 6,207 641

12,594 6,109

26. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

In Canada, an oil pipeline from the Onion Lake Thermal field to a gathering system has been built by a third party for the exclusive 
use of IPC. Onion Lake Thermal oil production is blended with condensate before being transported via the pipeline and is 
therefore expected to attract improved realized prices as a result of the blended oil. The pipeline is also expected to improve the 
reliability and uptime of the transportation and production at Onion Lake Thermal. The initial investment in the pipeline was met 
by the pipeline owner and is to be recovered through an agreed tariff charged to IPC. IPC has committed to a firm transportation 
service for 15 years from commencement of service in April 2022, with total remaining tariffs committed as shown in the table 
below:

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter

Transportation service (MCAD) 27.3 28.0 28.4 29.0 29.0 303.3

In Malaysia, IPC has an obligation to make payments towards historic costs on Block PM307 payable on the Bertam field for every 
1 MMboe gross that the field produces above 10 MMboe gross. The estimated liability based on current 2P reserves and which is 
capped at cumulative production of 27.5 MMboe gross, has been provided for in the Group’s Balance Sheet (see Note 19).  

27. RELATED PARTIES

Orrön Energy (formerly Lundin Energy) has charged the Group USD 605 thousand in respect of office space rental and USD 
1,480 thousand in respect of shared services provided during the year 2022. Lundin Foundation has charged the Group USD 200 
thousand in respect of sustainability advisory services provided to the Group during the year 2022.

All transactions with related parties are in the normal course of business and are made on the same terms and conditions as with 
parties at arm’s length.
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28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 6, 2023, IPC announced the acquisition of Cor4 Oil Corp., a private company for a consideration of USD 62 million. 
This transaction is forecast to add approximately 4,000 boepd to the Suffield area production in 2023. The completion of the Cor4 
Acquisition remains subject to certain conditions and is expected to occur by the end of Q1 2023.

On February 7, 2023, IPC also announced the decision to advance development of Phase 1 of the Blackrod project, Canada, which 
matures 218 MMboe into 2P reserves, with forecast first oil in late 2026 and production planned to increase to 30,000 boepd by 
2028. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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INTRODUCTION

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) for International Petroleum Corporation (“IPC” or the “Corporation” and, 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is dated February 7, 2023 and is intended to provide an overview of the Group’s 
operations, financial performance and current and future business opportunities. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with 
IPC’s audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2022 (“Financial 
Statements”).

Group Overview
The Group is in the business of exploring for, developing and producing oil and gas. IPC holds a portfolio of oil and gas production 
assets and development projects in Canada, Malaysia and France with exposure to growth opportunities. 

The Corporation’s common shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange in Canada and the Nasdaq Stockholm Exchange in 
Sweden. The Corporation is incorporated and domiciled in British Columbia, Canada, under the Business Corporations Act. The 
address of its registered office is Suite 2600, 595 Burrard Street, P.O. Box 49314, Vancouver, BC V7X 1L3, Canada and its business 
address is Suite 2000, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8, Canada.

Basis of Preparation
The MD&A and the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

Financial information is presented in United States Dollars (“USD”). However, as the Group operates in Europe and in Canada, 
certain financial information prepared by subsidiaries has been reported in Euros (“EUR”) and in Canadian Dollars (“CAD”). In 
addition, certain costs relating to the operations in Malaysia, which are reported in USD, are incurred in Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”). 

Exchange rates for the relevant currencies of the Group with respect to the US Dollar are as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Average Period end Average Year end

1 EUR equals USD 1.0539 1.0666 1.1835 1.1326

1 USD equals CAD 1.3015 1.3538 1.2536 1.2708

1 USD equals MYR 4.3995 4.4050 4.1433 4.1660
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HIGHLIGHTS

2022 Business Highlights
• Decision taken to advance the development of Phase 1 of the Blackrod project in Canada following the completion of front 

end engineering design (FEED) studies, maturing 218 million barrels of oil equivalent (MMboe) of 2P reserves.(1)(2)

• In Q3 2022, published IPC’s third annual Sustainability Report, aligned with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards 
and the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

• Expanding our stated commitment to reduce our net emissions intensity to 20 kg CO2/boe by 2025, now expecting to 
remain at those levels through end 2027.

• 8.3 million common shares cancelled in early Q3 2022 following the successful conclusion of IPC’s first Substantial Issuer 
Bid (SIB), returning MUSD 100 to shareholders.

• 9.5 million common shares purchased and cancelled from December 2021 to December 2022 under IPC’s normal course 
issuer bid (NCIB) and a further 1.5 million common shares purchased for cancellation during December 2022 and January 
2023 under the renewed NCIB.

• Successfully concluded material 2022 capital investment program of MUSD 163, increasing IPC’s 2022 production.
• Average net production of approximately 49,200 barrels of oil equivalent (boe) per day (boepd) for the fourth quarter of 2022 

was above the high end of the guidance range for the period (46% heavy crude oil, 21% light and medium crude oil and 
33% natural gas).(1)

• Full year 2022 average net production was 48,600 boepd, above the high end of annual guidance and a record high for IPC.(1)

• Ten-year extension agreed for our Bertam Field, Malaysia production sharing contract (PSC) to 2035.
 
2022 Financial Highlights

• Operating costs per boe of USD 16.9 for the fourth quarter of 2022 and USD 16.6 for the full year in line with full year 
guidance of USD 16 to 17 per boe.(3)

• Strong operating cash flow (OCF) generation for the fourth quarter and full year 2022 amounted to MUSD 114 and MUSD 
623, respectively.(3)

• Capital and decommissioning expenditures of MUSD 44 for the fourth quarter and MUSD 163 for the full year 2022, 
slightly below full year guidance of MUSD 170 with some carry over expenditure deferred into 2023.

• Strong free cash flow (FCF) generation for the fourth quarter and full year 2022 amounted to MUSD 65 and MUSD 430, 
respectively.(3)

• Net cash of MUSD 175 as at December 31, 2022, up from net debt of MUSD 94 as at December 31, 2021.(3)

• Net result of MUSD 61 for the fourth quarter of 2022 and MUSD 338 for the full year 2022.
• IPC’s inaugural USD 300 million bond issued in Q1 2022. 

Reserves, Resources and Value
• Total 2P reserves as at December 31, 2022 of 487 million boe (MMboe), representing a reserves replacement ratio of over 

1,300% compared to year-end 2021, with a reserves life index (RLI) of 27 years.(1)(2)

• Matured 218 MMboe into 2P reserves from contingent resources following decision to advance Phase 1 of the Blackrod 
project.     

• Contingent resources (best estimate, unrisked) as at December 31, 2022 of 1,162 MMboe.(1)(2)

• 2P reserves net asset value (NAV) as at December 31, 2022 of MUSD 3,545 (10% discount rate) to MUSD 4,184 (8% 
discount rate). (1)(2)(4)(5)

2023 Annual Guidance
• Full year 2023 average net production forecast at 48,000 to 50,000 boepd.(1)

• Full year 2023 operating costs guidance forecast at USD 17.5 to 18 per boe.(3)

• Full year 2023 OCF guidance estimated at between MUSD 250 to 495 (assuming Brent USD 70 to 100 per barrel).(3)

• Full year 2023 capital and decommissioning expenditures guidance forecast at MUSD 365, including MUSD 287 relating to 
Phase 1 of the Blackrod project.

• Full year 2023 FCF ranges from approximately MUSD 140 to 390 (assuming Brent USD 70 to 100 per barrel) before 
taking into account proposed Blackrod capital expenditures, or MUSD -145 to 105 including proposed Blackrod capital 
expenditures. (3)
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Business Plan Production and Cash Flow Guidance
• 2023 – 2027 business plan forecasts:
 o  average net production forecast in excess of 50,000 boepd.(1)

 o  capital expenditure forecast of USD 14 per boe, including USD 10 per boe for the Blackrod Phase 1 project. 
 o  operating costs forecast of USD 18 per boe.(3)

 o  FCF forecast of approximately MUSD 700 to 1,400 (assuming Brent USD 75 to 95 per barrel).(3)(7)

• 2028 – 2032 business plan forecasts:
 o  average net production forecast in excess of 65,000 boepd.(1)

 o  capital expenditure forecast of USD 5 per boe. 
 o  operating costs forecast of USD 18 per boe.(3) 
 o  FCF forecast of approximately MUSD 1,900 to 3,000 (assuming Brent 75 to 95 USD per barrel).(3)(7)

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

USD Thousands 2022 2021 2022 2021

Revenue 256,479 215,296 1,135,958 666,409

Gross profit 95,411 79,469 516,709 210,321

Net result 61,183 66,918 337,725 146,059

Operating cash flow(3) 113,668 110,687 622,947 336,732

Free cash flow(3) 65,288 86,960 430,242 262,884

EBITDA(3) 125,651 110,087 639,480 330,754

Net Cash / (Debt)(3) 175,098 (94,312) 175,098 (94,312)
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

Business Overview

During 2022, oil and gas prices were much stronger compared to the full year 2021 average of USD 71 per barrel, with average 
Brent prices of USD 101 per barrel for the full year. Prices did retreat from second quarter highs in the second half as the 
tailwinds of tight supply and demand balances combined with very low inventory levels were more than offset by the headwinds 
of recessionary fears and the impact on future demand, Strategic Petroleum Reserve (SPR) releases in the United States and 
Covid-19 lockdowns in China.

In Canada, fourth quarter 2022 West Texas Intermediate (WTI) to Western Canadian Select (WCS) crude price differentials 
averaged around USD 26 per barrel, USD 6 per barrel wider than the third quarter of 2022. Forward markets into 2023 are pricing a 
tighter WTI/WCS differential at around USD 22 per barrel. Market commentators believe a return from US refinery outages as well 
as the end of the US SPR release program should provide more positive tailwinds for the WTI/WCS differential as we progress 
through 2023. IPC positioned itself well to mitigate this widening in the fourth quarter of 2022 with approximately two-thirds of our 
WTI/WCS differential exposure hedged at around USD 13 per barrel.

Gas markets remained relatively strong during the fourth quarter of 2022. IPC’s average realised gas price was CAD 5.90 per Mcf, 
well above the average fourth quarter AECO benchmark price of CAD 5.00 per Mcf as IPC benefitted from higher Empress price 
differentials. Forward prices have softened recently trading at around CAD 3.10 per Mcf for the remainder of 2023. IPC has hedged 
AECO gas prices: 33.7 MMcf per day at CAD 6.26 per Mcf in Q1 2023 and at CAD 4.10 per Mcf from April to October 2023.

IPC benefits from a well balanced mix of production comprising approximately 50% Canadian Crude, 34% Canadian Natural Gas 
and 16% Brent weighted oil. With synchronized strength in pricing across the entire energy complex, combined with delivering 
operational excellence above the high end of our 2022 guidance, IPC has again been able to deliver a very strong financial 
performance in the fourth quarter and throughout the full year 2022.

Fourth Quarter and Full Year 2022 Highlights
During the fourth quarter of 2022, our assets delivered average net production of 49,200 boepd, above our high end guidance 
for the quarter. This was made possible by the very high uptime performance across all of our assets as well as the production 
contribution from our 2022 investment program in Malaysia and Canada. Full year 2022 average net production of 48,600 boepd 
was above the upper end of the guidance range of 48,000 boepd.(1)

Our operating costs per boe for the fourth quarter of 2022 was USD 16.9, in line with our latest guidance. Full year 2022 operating 
costs per boe was USD 16.6, in line with guidance of USD 16 to 17 per boe.(2)

Operating cash flow (OCF) generation for the fourth quarter of 2022 was USD 114 million. Full year 2022 OCF was USD 623 
million in line with our lower end most recent guidance of USD 620 which assumed Brent USD 85 per barrel for November and 
December 2022.(2)

Capital and decommissioning expenditure for the fourth quarter of 2022 was USD 44 million. Full year 2022 capital and 
decommissioning expenditure of USD 163 million was marginally below guidance of USD 170 million with some carry over 
expenditure deferred into 2023.

Free cash flow (FCF) generation was strong at USD 65 million during the fourth quarter of 2022. Full year 2022 FCF generation 
was USD 430 million, in line with our most recent guidance of USD 425 to 460 million (assumed Brent USD 85 to 100 per barrel 
for November and December 2022) achieving a record high for the company. This represents approximately 29% of IPC’s current 
market capitalization.(3)

During the fourth quarter of 2022, IPC’s net cash position was further strengthened with a build to USD 175 million. Gross cash 
on the balance sheet amounts to USD 487 million providing a significant war chest to pursue our three strategic pillars of returning 
value to stakeholders, pursuing value adding M&A and maturing our contingent resource base into 2P reserves.(3)

Phase 1 Blackrod Project
Following the successful completion of FEED studies and the continued strong production performance from well pair three during 
2022, IPC has taken the decision to advance the development of Phase 1 of the Blackrod project. Development capital expenditure 
to first oil is estimated at approximately USD 850 million (unrisked, including inflation and contingencies). First oil of the Phase 1 
development is estimated to be in late 2026, with forecast production of 30,000 boepd by 2028. The breakeven oil price estimated 
by IPC assuming a 10% discount rate is a West Texas Intermediate (WTI) price of approximately USD 59 per barrel. Using the 
December 31, 2022 price forecasts of our qualified independent reserves evaluator, Sproule Associates Limited (Sproule), the net 
present value as at that date, at a 10% discount rate (after tax, unrisked), of Phase 1 of the Blackrod project is USD 807 million. 
IPC intends to fund the Phase 1 development with cash on hand and forecast FCF generated by its operations. (1)(2)(4)
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M&A
IPC was pleased to announce on February 6, 2023 our fifth acquisition in five years. IPC has agreed to acquire 15.9 MMboe of 2P 
reserves adjacent to our Suffield property in Alberta, Canada, through the proposed acquisition of Cor4. This acquisition is forecast 
to add approximately 4,000 boepd to our Suffield area production in 2023 for an asset consideration of USD 62 million. The 
producing assets are complementary not only to our Suffield asset but in addition, to a recent land acquisition that IPC concluded 
in the fourth quarter of 2022. Following these acquisitions, we now have over 25 drilling inventory locations on the Ellerslie play 
fairway that extends from the west of our Suffield asset to our new land acquisition and into the Cor4 property. We plan to drill a 
total of six wells on this exciting new play in 2023. The Cor4 acquisition remains subject to regulatory approvals and is expected to 
complete by the end of Q1 2023. IPC intends to fund the consideration from existing cash on hand. (1)(2)

In total, IPC has added over USD 2.8 billion of value in FCF generation and 2P reserves NPV increases, from our last 4 acquisitions.(3)(4)

2022 and 2023 Capital Allocation Framework

Substantial Issuer Bid
During 2022, IPC was very pleased to have concluded our first substantial issuer bid (SIB) in line with our capital allocation 
framework. IPC returned USD 100 million to shareholders, with our remaining shareholders benefiting from the cancellation of the 
repurchased common shares, being approximately 5.5% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares. In early Q3 2022, 
IPC completed the repurchase of approximately 8.3 million common shares at CAD 15.50 (approximately SEK 122) per share under 
the SIB and the cancellation of these shares.

Normal Course Issuer Bid
During the period of December 2021 to December 2022, IPC purchased and cancelled an aggregate of approximately 9.5 million 
common shares under the normal course issuer bid / share repurchase program (NCIB). The average price of shares purchased 
under the NCIB during that period was SEK 83 / CAD 10.70 per share.

In Q4 2022, IPC announced the renewal of the NCIB, with the ability to repurchase up to approximately 9.3 million common shares 
over the twelve-month period to December 2023. IPC repurchased in December 2022 and subsequently cancelled approximately 
730,000 common shares. By the end of January 2023, IPC repurchased for cancellation a further approximately 810,000 common 
shares. The average price of common shares purchased under the renewed NCIB during December 2022 and January 2023 was 
SEK 111 / CAD 14.50 per share.

As at February 7, 2023, IPC had a total of 136,089,756 common shares issued and outstanding, of which IPC holds 71,416 
common shares in treasury.

2023 Capital Allocation Plans
IPC’s capital allocation framework consists of distributing to shareholders a minimum of 40% of the FCF generated by 
IPC, provided that IPC’s net debt to EBITDA ratio is at or below 1 time.(3) These shareholder distributions are planned to be 
implemented by continued share repurchases under the NCIB as well as the consideration by IPC of other forms of shareholder 
distributions, subject to further applicable regulatory and corporate approvals.

Despite the higher level of capital investment and lower FCF forecast during 2023, and notwithstanding the capital allocation 
framework described above, IPC plans to continue to purchase and cancel common shares under the NCIB to the remaining 
limit of 7.8 million common shares by the end of December 2023, resulting in the cancellation of 7% of shares outstanding as of 
December 2022. We believe a combination of materially growing our 2P reserves, production and asset value whilst reducing our 
share count is a winning combination for shareholders.(3)

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Performance
Responsible operatorship and ensuring that we adhere to the highest principles of business conduct have been integral parts of 
how we do business since IPC started in 2017. Since that time, IPC has rapidly grown our business and we continue to further 
develop and improve our sustainability strategy. An important part of this journey involves the measurement and transparent 
reporting of a broad range of ESG metrics. With the publication of our second quarter 2022 financial report, we were very pleased 
to publish our third Sustainability Report, aligned with the Global Reporting Initiative standards and the Task Force on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures. As previously announced, IPC targets a reduction of our net GHG emissions intensity by the end 
of 2025 to 50% of IPC’s 2019 baseline and IPC remains on track to achieve this reduction. Furthermore, we are extending our 
commitment to remain at 2025 levels of 20 kg CO2/boe through to the end of 2027.

During the fourth quarter of 2022 and for the full year 2022, IPC recorded no material safety or environmental incidents. 

•  
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Reserves, Resources and Value 
As at the end of December 2022, IPC’s 2P reserves are 487 MMboe. During 2022, IPC replaced 13 times its annual production, 
mainly as a result of maturing 218 MMboe of 2P reserves from contingent resources related to Phase 1 of the Blackrod project 
and acquiring 15.9 MMboe in the acquisition of Cor4. The reserves life index (RLI) as at December 31, 2022, increases to 
approximately 27 years. (1)(2) 

The net present value (NPV) of IPC’s 2P reserves as at December 31, 2022 was USD 3,432 million. IPC’s net asset value (NAV) 

was USD 3,545 million or SEK 270 / CAD 35 per share as at December 31, 2022. To take into account the higher interest rate 
environment, IPC now presents 2P reserves NPV and NAV at a discount rate of 10%, compared to a discount rate of 8% in 
previous periods. At a discount rate of 8%, as at December 31, 2022, the NPV of IPC’s 2P reserves as at December 31, 2022 was 
USD 4,071 million and the NAV was USD 4,184 million or SEK 319 / CAD 41 per share.(2)(4)(5)

In addition, IPC’s best estimate contingent resources (unrisked) as at December 31, 2022 are 1,162 MMboe, of which over 1,000 
MMboe relate to future potential phases of the Blackrod project.(1)(2)

2023 Budget and Operational Guidance
We are pleased to announce our 2023 average net production guidance is 48,000 to 50,000 boepd, a 2,000 boepd increase from 
our original 2022 CMD guidance. We forecast operating costs for 2023 to be USD 17.5 to 18 per boe, with the forecast increase 
from 2022 mainly due to the reclassification of Blackrod operating costs.(1)(3) 

We also forecast significant FCF generation based on our 2P reserves base of an aggregate of more than USD 700 to 1,400 million 
over the period of 2023 to 2027. In addition, we forecast FCF generation of USD 1,900 to 3,000 million over the period of 2028 to 
2032, assuming completion of Phase 1 of the Blackrod project.(2)(3)(7) 

Our 2023 capital and decommissioning expenditure budget is USD 365 million, with over USD 287 million forecast for the Phase 
1 development of the Blackrod project. The remainder of the 2023 budget includes the continued Pad L investment at Onion Lake 
Thermal, optimisation projects at Suffield gas, and continued development at the Ferguson asset in Canada. We plan further study 
work in Malaysia on the Bertam field and, in France, completion of the first phase of the Villeperdue West development project 
and a further sidetrack well. 

IPC has decided to materially scale back capital expenditure on the base business from USD 163 million in 2022 to a forecast USD 
78 million in 2023 including decommissioning expenditure. Limited investment in our current assets and the planned investments 
in the Cor4 assets to be acquired are forecast to provide production growth in the short to medium term, as we proceed with 
the Blackrod Phase 1 investment. Total base business capital expenditure inclusive of Cor4 acquisition price of USD 62 million 
amounts to USD 130 million, in line with the original 2022 capital expenditure budget and delivering a similar 2,000 boepd increase 
in production guidance year over year. IPC has significant flexibility to amend our business plans based on the development of 
commodity prices during 2023.

Further details regarding IPC’s proposed 2023 budget and operational guidance will be provided at IPC’s Capital Markets Day 
presentation to be held on February 7, 2023 at 14:00 CET. A copy of the Capital Markets Day presentation will be available on IPC’s 
website at www.international-petroleum.com 

Notes:

(1) See “Supplemental Information regarding Product Types” in “Reserves and Resources Advisory” below. See also the 
material change report (MCR) available on IPC’s website at www.international-petroleum.com and filed on the date of 
this MD&A under IPC’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Includes the 2P reserves as at December 31, 2022 and 
the forecast production, operating costs and capital expenditures attributable to the oil and gas assets of Cor4, assuming 
acquisition as of such date. Completion of the Cor4 transaction remains subject to regulatory approvals and is expected to 
complete by the end of Q1 2023. 

(2) See ”Reserves and Resources Advisory” below. Further information with respect to IPC’s and Cor4’s reserves, contingent 
resources and estimates of future net revenue, including assumptions relating to the calculation of NPV, are further 
described in the MCR. 2P reserves as at December 31, 2022 of 487 MMboe includes 471 MMboe attributable to IPC’s 
oil and gas assets and 15.9 MMboe attributable to Cor4’s oil and gas assets. Reserves replacement ratio is based on 2P 
reserves of 270 MMboe as at December 31, 2021, sales production during 2022 of 16.9 MMboe, additions to 2P reserves 
during 2022 of 218 MMboe (or 234 MMboe including the 2P reserves attributable to the acquisition of Cor4) and 2P 
reserves of 471 MMboe (or 487 MMboe including the 2P reserves attributable to the acquisition of Cor4) as at December 
31, 2022. 

(3) Non-IFRS measure, see “Non-IFRS Measures” below and in the MD&A. 

(4)  NPV is after tax, discounted at 10% and based upon the forecast prices and other assumptions further described in the 
MCR. NPV of the 2P reserves as at December 31, 2022 of USD 3,432 million includes USD 3,279 million attributable 
to IPC’s oil and gas assets and USD 153 million attributable to Cor4’s oil and gas assets. See “Reserves and Resources 
Advisory” below.
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(5) NAV is calculated as NPV plus net cash of USD 175 million as at December 31, 2022 less the Cor4 acquisition consideration 
of USD 62 million.     

(6) NAV per share is based on 136,827,999 IPC common shares outstanding as at December 31, 2022. NAV per share is not 
predictive and may not be reflective of current or future market prices for IPC common shares.                              

          
(7) Estimated FCF generation is based on IPC’s current business plans over the periods of 2023 to 2027 and 2028 to 2032, 

including net cash of USD 175 million as at December 31, 2022 less the Cor4 acquisition consideration of USD 62 million. 
Assumptions include average net production of approximately 50 Mboepd over the period of 2023 to 2027, average net 
production of approximately 65 Mboepd over the period of 2028 to 2032, average Brent oil prices of USD 75 to 95 per boe 
escalating by 2% per year, and average Brent to Western Canadian Select differentials and average gas prices as estimated 
by IPC’s independent reserves evaluator and as further described in the MCR. Free cash flow yield is based on IPC’s market 
capitalization at close January 31, 2023 (112.5 SEK/share, 10.46 SEK/USD, USD 1,463 million). IPC’s current business plans 
and assumptions, and the business environment, are subject to change. Actual results may differ materially from forward-
looking estimates and forecasts. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information” below.
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Operations Overview 

2022 Overview
IPC set a balanced capital budget for 2022, targeting production developments across all regions whilst having a continued focus 
on free cash flow delivery to the business. At the end of Q2 2022, on the back of strong operational performance and improved 
market conditions, IPC increased its capital expenditure forecast to allow for further conventional oil well drilling, natural gas 
recompletion activity and facility capacity optimisation in Canada. 
  
From a development perspective, 2022 was an active year for IPC with new production well drilling and optimisation activity in all 
our operating regions. In Canada, drilling of the next sustaining production Pad L at Onion Lake Thermal is complete with facility 
works and tie ins scheduled for execution through 2023. The first phase of the Ferguson field development has been successfully 
executed with a total of 16 new oil wells more than doubling production at the asset. Conventional and EOR well drilling at the 
Suffield asset has been supplemented by gas recompletion and optimisation activity which continues to offset historical field 
declines. In Malaysia the A15 side-track production well and the planned three production well pump upgrades were successfully 
brought online during Q2 2022. In France, the three well drilling programme Villeperdue West commenced in Q4 2022 with 
production from all three wells expected through Q1 2023. 

Reserves and Resources
The 2P reserves attributable to IPC’s oil and gas assets are 487 MMboe as at December 31, 2022, with over 96% certified by 
independent third party reserve auditors (15.9 MMboe related to the Cor4 acquisition certified by an internal qualified reserves 
auditor). The reserve life index (RLI) as at December 31, 2022, is approximately 27 years. Best estimate contingent resources as at 
December 31, 2022, are 1,162 MMboe (unrisked). See “Reserves and Resources Advisory” below.

Production
The average net production during the fourth quarter of 2022 was in excess of 49,200 boepd. This is our fourth quarter in 
succession of delivering production above our high end CMD guidance. Exceptional operational performance and high production 
uptimes have been supplemented by the production benefit from the recent development investments in Canada and Malaysia. 
In Canada, optimisation activity at our Suffield assets continues to deliver strong results and for the fourth quarter in succession 
Onion Lake Thermal delivered record production. In addition, strong performance from the Malaysian and French assets continued 
in Q4 2022 with excellent operational uptime at the Bertam field in Malaysia and stable production in France.                                                           

With the exceptional operational delivery through 2022, IPC exits the year with a net average production of 48,600 boepd, 600 
boepd above both our original high end guidance and the latest Q3 guidance of greater than 48,000 boepd.

The production during Q4 2022 with comparatives is summarized below:

Production
in Mboepd

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

Crude oil

Canada – Northern Assets 16.0 14.2 15.6 12.8

Canada – Southern Assets 9.0 8.5 8.7 8.6

Malaysia 5.2 4.5 5.3 4.4

France 2.7 2.9 2.7 3.0

Total crude oil production 32.9 30.1 32.3 28.8

Gas

Canada – Northern Assets 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Canada – Southern Assets 16.2 16.6 16.2 16.6

Total gas production 16.3 16.7 16.3 16.7

Total production 49.2 46.8 48.6 45.5

Quantity in MMboe 4.53 4.31 17.74 16.61

See “Supplemental Information regarding Product Types” in “Reserves and Resources Advisory”.
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CANADA

Production
in Mboepd WI

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

- Oil Onion Lake Thermal 100% 13.1 11.5 12.7 10.6

- Oil Suffield 100% 6.7 7.5 7.1 7.5

- Oil Ferguson 100% 2.3 1.0 1.6 1.1

- Oil Other 50-100% 2.9 2.7 2.9 2.2

- Gas 99.7%1 16.3 16.7 16.3 16.7

Canada 41.3 39.4 40.6 38.1

1  On a well count basis

Production
Net production from IPC’s Canadian assets during Q4 2022 was ahead of the latest guidance at 41,300 boepd despite earlier than 
forecast extreme cold weather conditions in the region. Recompletion and optimisation activity at the Suffield property continues 
to deliver strong results and offset field decline rates. For the fourth quarter in succession, Onion Lake Thermal delivered record 
production with strong base well performance and high production uptime.

Organic Growth and Capital Projects
At Onion Lake Thermal, the two new production infill wells have been brought online with strong initial performance supporting 
record production levels from the asset. At the end of Q4 2022, drilling of the next sustaining production Pad L has been 
completed with facility works and tie ins scheduled for execution through 2023.

At Ferguson, IPC successfully delivered the first phase of the planned field development, including sixteen new horizontal 
producers and a gas processing system capacity increase as part of the programme.

At Suffield Oil, as of the end of Q4 2022, two ASP injection and two production wells have been drilled as part of a planned 
expansion of the N2N EOR field. A further two conventional production and two water disposal wells were completed in Q4 with 
well clean up and performance testing ongoing.

By the end of Q4 at Suffield Gas, a total of 117 gas well recompletions have been executed and brought onstream.

Strong performance from the third well pair pilot project at the Blackrod asset continued through Q4 2022. Heat conformance and 
production performance remain ahead of expectation. As of the end of Q4 2022, Blackrod Phase 1 commercial development FEED 
studies have been completed in line with schedule.  

MALAYSIA

Production
in Mboepd WI

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

Bertam 100% 1 5.2 4.5 5.3 4.4

1  100% from April 10, 2021 (75% previously)

Production
Net production from the Bertam field on Block PM307 during Q4 2022 was stable and in line with the latest guidance at 5,200 
boepd. 

Organic Growth and Capital Projects
In Malaysia, the new A15 side-track production well and the planned three production well pump upgrades were successfully 
brought online during Q2 2022. In December 2022, IPC announced the agreement to extend the Bertam Field PSC by ten years to 
August 2035.
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FRANCE

Production
in Mboepd WI

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

France

- Paris Basin 100%1 2.3 2.5 2.4 2.6

- Aquitaine 50% 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.4

2.7 2.9 2.7 3.0

1 Except for the working interest in the Dommartin Lettree field of 43%

Production
Net production in France during Q4 2022 was in line with the latest guidance at 2,700 boepd with stable production and high 
uptimes at the major producing fields.

Organic Growth
In France, IPC sanctioned a three horizontal well development at Villeperdue West as part of the capital expenditure plans for 
2022. IPC continues to mature future development projects in France, with focus towards the undeveloped resource base within 
the Paris Basin.

In Q4 2022, the three well drilling programme Villeperdue West commenced with production from all three wells expected in Q1 
2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Financial Results

Selected Annual Financial Information

Selected consolidated statement of operations is as follows:

USD Thousands 2022 2021 2020

Revenue 1,135,958 666,409 324,164

Gross profit 516,709 210,321 (83,986)

Net result 337,725 146,059 (77,941)

Earnings per share – USD 2.30 0.94 (0.50)

Earnings per share fully diluted – USD 2.25 0.92 (0.49)

Operating cash flow1 622,947 336,732 119,423

Free cash flow1 430,242 262,884 9,342

EBITDA1 639,480 330,754 108,451

Net cash / (debt) at period end1 175,098 (94,312) (321,193)

1  See definition on page 23 under “Non-IFRS measures”

Summarized consolidated balance sheet information is as follows:

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Non-current assets 1,041,051 1,122,514 1,240,653

Current assets 638,566 151,160 92,467

Total assets 1,679,617 1,273,674 1,333,120

Total non-current liabilities 564,381 331,152 527,530

Current liabilities 149,905 94,979 97,137

Total liabilities 714,286 426,131 624,667

Net assets 965,331 847,543 708,453

Working capital (including cash) 488,661 56,181 (4,670)
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Selected Interim Financial Information

Selected interim condensed consolidated statement of operations is as follows:

USD Thousands 2022 Q4-22 Q3-22 Q2-22 Q1-22 2021 Q4-21 Q3-21 Q2-21 Q1-21

Revenue 1,135,958 256,479 300,770 317,403 261,306 666,409 215,296 172,551 144,278 134,284

Gross profit 516,709 95,411 140,489 161,709 119,100 210,321 79,469 58,636 34,286 37,930

Net result 337,725 61,183 90,503 105,217 80,822 146,059 66,918 30,557 21,693 26,891

Earnings per share – 
USD 2.30 0.45 0.63 0.70 0.52 0.94 0.43 0.20 0.14 0.17

Earnings per share fully
diluted – USD 2.25 0.44 0.62 0.68 0.51 0.92 0.42 0.19 0.14 0.17

Operating cash flow1 622,947 113,668 171,654 192,515 145,110 336,732 110,687 91,365 66,959 67,721

Free cash flow1 430,242 65,288 116,681 151,792 96,479 262,884 86,960 76,607 50,366 48,951

EBITDA1 639,480 125,651 174,328 194,038 145,463 330,754 110,087 89,223 65,181 66,263

Net cash / (debt) at 
period end1 175,098 175,098 88,615 14,382 (42,367) (94,312) (94,312) (161,199) (240,617) (286,132)

   
1 See definition on page 23 under “Non-IFRS measures”
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Selected Interim Financial Information

The Group operates within several geographical areas. Operating segments are reported at a country level, with Canada being 
further analyzed by main areas: (i) Canada – Northern Assets (comprising mainly of the Onion Lake Thermal asset) and (ii) Canada –
Southern Assets (comprising of the Suffield assets and the Ferguson asset). This is consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to IPC management. The following tables present certain segment information.

Three months ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands Canada –
Northern Assets

Canada –
 Southern Assets Malaysia France Other Total

Crude oil 101,127 52,721 44,361 29,095 – 227,304

NGLs – 142 – – – 142

Gas 256 35,656 – – – 35,912

Net sales of oil and gas 101,383 88,519 44,361 29,095 – 263,358
Change in under/over lift 
position – – – (7,642) – (7,642)

Royalties (10,006) (8,989) – – – (18,995)

Hedging settlement 12,308 7,277 – – – 19,585

Other operating revenue – – – 173 – 173

Revenue 103,685 86,807 44,361 21,626 – 256,479

Operating costs (23,247) (32,964) (9,394) (10,764) – (76,369)

Cost of blending (39,494) (7,040) – – – (46,534)

Change in inventory position (551) 124 (4,111) (54) – (4,592)
Depletion and decommissioning 
costs (8,256) (10,591) (8,667) (2,806) – (30,320)

Depreciation of other assets – – (2,695) – – (2,695)

Exploration and business
development costs – – – – (558) (558)

Gross profit/(loss) 32,137 36,336 19,494 8,002 (558) 95,411

Three months ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands Canada –
Northern Assets

Canada –
 Southern Assets Malaysia France Other Total

Crude oil 84,039 53,940 47,166 18,863 – 204,008

NGLs – 172 – – – 172

Gas 212 33,076 – – – 33,288

Net sales of oil and gas 84,251 87,188 47,166 18,863 – 237,468
Change in under/over lift 
position – – – 2,958 – 2,958

Royalties (7,968) (7,095) – – – (15,063)

Hedging settlement (7,109) (3,323) – – – (10,432)

Other operating revenue – 171 – 194 – 365

Revenue 69,174 76,941 47,166 22,015 – 215,296

Operating costs (20,956) (27,412) (5,964) (10,610) – (64,942)

Cost of blending (15,439) (6,884) – – – (22,323)

Change in inventory position (190) (702) (14,020) (384) – (15,296)

Depletion and decommissioning 
costs (8,121) (10,758) (7,843) (3,571) – (30,293)

Depreciation of other assets – – (2,628) – – (2,628)

Exploration and business
development costs (4) – – – (341) (345)

Gross profit/(loss) 24,464 31,185 16,711 7,450 (341) 79,469
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Year ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands Canada –
Northern Assets

Canada –
 Southern Assets Malaysia France Other Total

Crude oil 513,349 265,016 184,143 112,379 – 1,074,887

NGLs – 774 – – – 774

Gas 1,082 153,672 – – – 154,754

Net sales of oil and gas 514,431 419,462 184,143 112,379 – 1,230,415

Change in under/over lift position – – – (8,553) – (8,553)

Royalties (59,353) (46,503) – – – (105,856)

Hedging settlement 18,842 283 – – – 19,125

Other operating revenue – 111 – 716 – 827

Revenue 473,920 373,353 184,143 104,542 – 1,135,958

Operating costs (101,443) (115,574) (35,051) (42,248) – (294,316)

Cost of blending (155,375) (33,797) – – – (189,172)

Change in inventory position 721 317 (1,916) 720 – (158)
Depletion and decommissioning 
costs (33,097) (41,980) (34,687) (12,277) – (122,041)

Depreciation of other tangible 
fixed assets – – (10,787) – – (10,787)

Exploration and business
development costs 97 – – – (2,872) (2,775)

Gross profit/(loss) 184,823 182,319 101,702 50,737 (2,872) 516,709

Year ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands Canada –
Northern Assets

Canada –
 Southern Assets Malaysia France Other Total

Crude oil 268,403 190,287 100,436 75,949 – 635,075

NGLs – 570 – – – 570

Gas 630 99,389 – – – 100,019

Net sales of oil and gas 269,033 290,246 100,436 75,949 – 735,664

Change in under/over lift position – – – 5,391 – 5,391

Royalties (25,179) (21,245) – – – (46,424)

Hedging settlement (22,272) (11,320) – – – (33,592)

Other operating revenue – 171 4,208 927 64 5,370

Revenue 221,582 257,852 104,644 82,267 64 666,409

Operating costs (79,213) (102,084) (27,080) (39,852) – (248,229)

Cost of blending (52,855) (25,579) – – – (78,434)

Change in inventory position 368 (353) 1,837 (196) – 1,656

Depletion and decommissioning 
costs (29,667) (43,097) (30,156) (16,093) – (119,013)

Depreciation of other tangible 
fixed assets – – (10,108) – – (10,108)

Exploration and business
development costs (8) – (259) (7) (1,686) (1,960)

Gross profit/(loss) 60,207 86,739 38,878 26,119 (1,622) 210,321
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Three months and year ended December 31, 2022, Review 

Revenue
Total revenue amounted to USD 256,479 thousand for Q4 2022, compared to USD 215,296 thousand for Q4 2021 and USD
1,135,958 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 666,409 thousand for the year ended December 31, 
2021 and is analyzed as follows:

USD Thousands

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

Crude oil sales 227,304 204,008 1,074,887 635,075

Gas and NGL sales 36,054 33,460 155,528 100,589

Change in under/overlift position (7,642) 2,958 (8,553) 5,391

Royalties (18,995) (15,063) (105,856) (46,424)

Hedging settlement 19,585 (10,432) 19,125 (33,592)

Other operating revenue 173 365 827 5,370

Total revenue 256,479 215,296 1,135,958 666,409

The main components of total revenue for the three and year ended December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively, 
are detailed below. 

Crude oil sales

Three months ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands
Canada –

Northern Assets
Canada –

 Southern Assets Malaysia France Total

Crude oil sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 101,127 52,721 44,361 29,095 227,304

- Quantity sold in bbls 1,824,392 900,832 473,071 330,014 3,528,309

- Average price realized USD per bbl 55.43 58.52 93.77 88.16 64.42

Three months ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands
Canada –

Northern Assets
Canada –

 Southern Assets Malaysia France Total

Crude oil sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 84,039 53,940 47,166 18,863 204,008

- Quantity sold in bbls 1,405,654 873,890 577,258 235,921 3,092,723

- Average price realized USD per bbl 59.79 61.72 81.71 79.96 65.96

Crude oil revenue was 11% higher in Q4 2022 compared to Q4 2021 mainly due to a higher volume sold as a result of increased 
production and more volume blended at Onion Lake following the commissioning of a pipeline in April 2022. Brent oil prices were 
higher in Q4 2022 versus Q4 2021, however the differential on Canadian pricing was higher in Q4 2022 compared to Q4 2021. 

The Suffield area assets and Onion Lake crude oil in Canada are blended with purchased condensate diluent volumes
to meet pipeline specifications. As a result of the blended volumes, actual sales volumes are higher than produced volumes for
Canada. The Canadian realized sales price is based on the Western Canadian Select (“WCS”) price which trades at a discount to
West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”). For Q4 2022, WTI averaged USD 83 per bbl compared to USD 77 per bbl for Q4 2021 and the
average discount to WCS used in our pricing formula was USD 26 per bbl compared to USD 15 per bbl for Q4 2021.

The realized sales price for Malaysia and France is based on Dated Brent crude oil prices. There were two cargo liftings in Malaysia
during Q4 2022 in November and December and two cargo liftings in Q4 2021. Produced unsold oil barrels from Bertam at the 
end of Q4 2022 amounted to 93,000 barrels, see Change in Inventory Position section below. There was one Aquitaine cargo in 
France lifted in Q4 2022 compared to none in Q4 2021. The average Dated Brent crude oil price was USD 89 per bbl for Q4 2022 
compared to USD 80 per bbl for the comparative period.
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Year ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands
Canada –

Northern Assets
Canada –

 Southern Assets Malaysia France Total

Crude oil sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 513,349 265,016 184,143 112,379 1,074,887

- Quantity sold in bbls 6,880,263 3,492,721 1,646,301 1,143,130 13,162,415

- Average price realized USD per bbl 74.61 75.88 111.85 98.31 81.66

Year ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands
Canada –

Northern Assets
Canada –

 Southern Assets Malaysia France Total

Crude oil sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 268,403 190,287 100,436 75,949 635,075

- Quantity sold in bbls 5,118,726 3,505,698 1,337,346 1,069,276 11,031,046

- Average price realized USD per bbl 52.44 54.28 75.10 71.03 57.57

Crude oil revenue was 70% higher during the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 
mainly due to the increase in achieved oil prices resulting from the improvement in market conditions, increased production and a 
greater volume of blended oil sold.

The Canadian realized sales price is based on the Western Canadian Select (“WCS”) price which trades at a discount to West
Texas Intermediate (“WTI”). WTI averaged USD 94 per bbl and the average discount from WTI to WCS was approximately USD 18 
per bbl for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to an average WTI of USD 68 per bbl and an average discount from WTI 
to WCS of USD 13 per bbl for the comparative period in 2021.

The realized sales price for Malaysia and France is based on Brent crude oil prices and the average market Brent crude oil price
was USD 101 per bbl for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 71 per bbl for the comparative period.

Gas and NGL sales

Three months ended – December 31, 2022

Canada –
Southern Assets

Canada –
 Northern Assets Total

Gas and NGL sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 35,798 256 36,054

- Quantity sold in Mcf 8,256,010 70,093 8,326,103

- Average price realized USD per Mcf 4.34 3.65 4.33

Three months ended – December 31, 2021
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

 Northern Assets Total

Gas and NGL sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 33,248 212 33,460

- Quantity sold in Mcf 8,536,894 69,643 8,606,537

- Average price realized USD per Mcf 3.89 3.05 3.89

Gas and NGL sales revenue was 8% higher for Q4 2022 compared to Q4 2021 mainly due to the higher achieved gas price.
IPC’s achieved gas price is based on AECO pricing plus a premium. For Q4 2022, IPC realized an average price of CAD 5.90 per
Mcf compared to AECO average pricing of CAD 5.03 per Mcf.
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Year ended – December 31, 2022

Canada –
Southern Assets

Canada –
 Northern Assets Total

Gas and NGL sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 154,446 1,082 155,528

- Quantity sold in Mcf 32,699,017 264,673 32,963,690

- Average price realized USD per Mcf 4.72 4.09 4.72

Year ended – December 31, 2021
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

 Northern Assets Total

Gas and NGL sales

- Revenue in USD thousands 99,959 630 100,589

- Quantity sold in Mcf 33,731,280 237,489 33,968,769

- Average price realized USD per Mcf 2.96 2.65 2.96

Gas and NGL sales revenue was 55% higher for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2021 mainly due to the higher achieved gas price. For the year ended December 31, 2022, IPC realized an average price of CAD 
6.14 per Mcf compared to AECO average pricing of CAD 5.23 per Mcf.

Hedging settlement
IPC enters into risk management contracts in order to ensure a certain level of cash flow. It focuses mainly on oil price swaps and 
collars to limit pricing exposure. The oil and gas pricing contracts are not entered into for speculative purposes. 

The realized hedging settlement for the year ended December 31, 2022 amounted to a gain of USD 19,125 thousand and 
consisted of a gain of USD 29,339 thousand on the oil contracts and a loss of USD 10,214 thousand on the gas contracts. Also see 
the Financial Position and Liquidity and the Financial Risk Management sections below.

Other operating revenue
Other operating revenue amounted to USD 173 thousand for Q4 2022 compared to USD 365 thousand for Q4 2021 and USD 827 
thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 5,370 thousand for the comparative period. Other operating 
revenue mainly consists of tariff income and fees for strategic storage of inventory in France. A significant part of other operating 
revenue in 2021 related to third party lease fee income received by the Group for the leasing of the owned FPSO Bertam to the 
Bertam field in Malaysia until April 10, 2021. Following the withdrawal of Petronas Carigali Sdn Bhd from the Production Sharing 
Contract for the Bertam Field, and its interest being assigned to IPC, there is no such third party lease fee income after April 10, 
2021. From this date, 100% of the lease income is eliminated from other operating revenue and the corresponding self-to-self 
lease fee is eliminated from operating costs, and IPC reports additional oil sales revenues associated with the assigned 25% 
working interest in the Bertam field.

Production costs
Production costs including inventory movements amounted to USD 127,495 thousand for Q4 2022 compared to USD 102,561 
thousand for Q4 2021 and USD 483,646 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 325,007 thousand for 
the comparative period, and is analyzed as follows:

Three months ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

Northern Assets Malaysia France Other3 Total

Operating costs1 32,964 23,247 13,534 10,764 (4,140) 76,369

USD/boe2 14.21 15.72 28.12 43.05 n/a 16.86

Cost of blending 7,040 39,494 – – – 46,534

Change in inventory position (124) 551 4,111 54 – 4,592

Production costs 39,880 63,292 17,645 10,818 (4,140) 127,495
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Three months ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

Northern Assets Malaysia France Other3 Total

Operating costs1 27,412 20,956 10,104 10,610 (4,140) 64,942

USD/boe2 11.89 15.90 24.27 39.37 n/a 15.07

Cost of blending 6,884 15,439 – – – 22,323

Change in inventory position 702 190 14,020 384 – 15,296

Production costs 34,998 36,585 24,124 10,994 (4,140) 102,561

Year ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

Northern Assets Malaysia France Other3 Total

Operating costs1 115,574 101,443 51,476 42,248 (16,425) 294,316

USD/boe2 12.71 17.75 26.72 41.75 n/a 16.59

Cost of blending 33,797 155,375 – – – 189,172

Change in inventory position (317) (721) 1,916 (720) – 158

Production costs 149,054 256,097 53,392 41,528 (16,425) 483,646

Year ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

Northern Assets Malaysia France Other3 Total

Operating costs1 102,084 79,213 51,420 39,852 (24,340) 248,229

USD/boe2 11.11 16.74 32.13 36.57 n/a 14.95

Cost of blending 25,579 52,855 – – – 78,434

Change in inventory position 353 (368) (1,837) 196 – (1,656)

Production costs 128,016 131,700 49,583 40,048 (24,340) 325,007

1  See definition on page 23 under “Non-IFRS measures”.
2  USD/boe in the tables above is calculated by dividing the cost by the production volume for each country for the period.
3  Included in the Malaysia operating costs is the lease cost for the FPSO Bertam which is owned by the Group. Other represents the FPSO Bertam
 lease fee self-to-self payment elimination. Netting the self-to-self elimination against the operating costs in Malaysia reduces the operating costs
 per boe for Malaysia to USD 19.52 and USD 14.33 for Q4 2022 and Q4 2021 respectively and USD 18.20 and USD 16.92 for the year ended 

December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively.

Operating costs
Operating costs amounted to USD 76,369 thousand for Q4 2022 compared to USD 64,942 thousand for Q4 2021 and USD 
294,316 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 248,229 for the year ended December 31, 2021. The 
increase in costs in Q4 2022 compared to Q4 2021 is due to higher energy prices, higher chemical costs and increased activity. 
Operating costs per boe amounted to USD 16.86 per boe in Q4 2022 compared with USD 15.07 per boe in Q4 2021 and was in 
line with the latest guidance for Q4 2022. Operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2022 amount to USD 16.59 per boe 
which was within the full year operating cost guidance of between USD 16 and 17 per boe.

Cost of blending
For the Suffield area assets in Canada, oil production is blended with purchased condensate diluent to meet pipeline specifications. 
As a result of the blending, actual sales volumes are higher than produced barrels and the realized sales price of a blended barrel 
is higher than an unblended barrel. The majority of Onion Lake oil production is also blended and exported by pipeline since April 
2022 with the commissioning of a third party export pipeline from the Onion Lake field to the gathering system.

The cost of the diluent net of proceeds from the sale of surplus diluent amounted to USD 46,534 thousand for Q4 2022 compared 
to USD 22,323 thousand for Q4 2021 and USD 189,172 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 
78,434 for the comparative period. The increase versus the comparative period is attributable to larger Onion Lake blending 
volumes and higher diluent prices in line with higher oil prices.
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Change in inventory position
The Bertam field in Malaysia is located offshore and production is lifted and sold from the FPSO Bertam when a cargo parcel size 
is reached. Accordingly, the timing of a lifting varies based on the inventory level on the FPSO facility and the change in inventory 
position varies, both positively and negatively, from period to period. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost including depletion, 
and market value, and the difference in the valuation between period ends is reflected in the change in inventory position in the 
statement of operations. At the end of Q4 2022, IPC had crude entitlement of 93,000 barrels of oil on the FPSO Bertam facility 
(crude produced but unsold). Two crude cargo were lifted from Bertam in November and December 2022 with the next lifting 
expected in February 2023.

Depletion and decommissioning costs
The total depletion of oil and gas properties amounted to USD 30,320 thousand for Q4 2022 compared to USD 30,453 thousand
for Q4 2021 and USD 122,041 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 119,013 thousand for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. The depletion charge is analyzed in the following tables:

Three months ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

 Northern Assets Malaysia France Total

Depletion cost in USD thousands 10,591 8,256 8,667 2,806 30,320

USD per boe 4.57 5.58 18.01 11.22 6.69

Three months ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

 Northern Assets Malaysia France Total

Depletion cost in USD thousands 10,758 8,121 7,843 3,571 30,293

USD per boe 4.67 6.16 18.84 13.25 7.03

Year ended – December 31, 2022

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

 Northern Assets Malaysia France Total

Depletion cost in USD thousands 41,980 33,097 34,687 12,277 122,041

USD per boe 4.62 5.79 18.01 12.13 6.88

Year ended – December 31, 2021

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

 Northern Assets Malaysia France Total

Depletion cost in USD thousands 43,097 29,667 30,156 16,093 119,013

USD per boe 4.69 6.27 18.84 14.77 7.17

The depletion charge is derived by applying the depletion rate per boe to the volumes produced in the period by each field. 

Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets
The total depreciation of other assets amounted to USD 2,695 thousand for Q4 2022 compared to USD 2,628 thousand for 
Q4 2021 and USD 10,787 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 10,108 thousand for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. This relates to the depreciation of the FPSO Bertam, which is being depreciated on a unit of production basis 
based on the Bertam field 2P reserves to August 2025 based on the original PSC expiry date.

Exploration and business development costs
The total exploration and business developments costs amounted to USD 558 thousand for Q4 2022 and USD 2,775 thousand for 
the year ended December 31, 2022. These costs mainly related to business development costs.

General, administrative and depreciation expenses
General, administrative and depreciation expenses amounted to USD 14,440 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 
compared to USD 12,364 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Net financial items
Net financial items amounted to a charge of USD 37,131 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to a charge 
of USD 30,214 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2021, and included a largely non-cash net foreign exchange loss of 
USD 7,872 thousand for 2022 compared to a net foreign exchange loss of USD 1,994 thousand for 2021. The foreign exchange 
movements during the year ended December 31, 2022 are mainly resulting from the revaluation of intra-group loan funding 
balances.

Excluding foreign exchange movements, the net financial items amounted to a charge of USD 29,259 thousand for the year ended 
December 31, 2022, compared to a charge of USD 28,220 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

The interest expense amounted to USD 20,689 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to USD 12,867 
thousand for the comparative period in 2021. Despite the repayment of the outstanding reserve-based lending (RBL) credit 
facilities in February 2022, the cost of financing was higher during 2022 than the comparative period as a result of the interest paid 
and accrued at 7.25% per annum on the USD 300 million Bonds issued. Interest income generated on cash balances held in 2022 
amounted to USD 6,966 thousand. 

Following the repayment of the outstanding RBL credit facilities with a portion of the Bonds proceeds, the remaining capitalized 
RBL loan fees were fully expensed during Q1 2022. These expensed loan fees relating to the credit facilities and the amortization 
of the capitalised Bonds fees amounted to USD 3,252 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to USD 2,068 
thousand for the comparative period in 2021.  

The unwinding of the asset retirement obligation discount rate amounted to USD 10,758 thousand for the year ended December 
31, 2022, compared to USD 11,488 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Income tax
The corporate income tax amounted to a charge of USD 127,413 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to a 
charge of USD 21,684 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2021 and included deferred taxes of USD 98,048 thousand and 
USD 17,104 thousand respectively. 

Current income payable amounted to USD 29,365 thousand in 2022 and mainly related to France and Malaysia. No corporate 
income tax was payable in Canada in respect of 2022 due to the usage of historical tax pools. On September 30, 2022, the Council 
of the European Union (“EU“) agreed to impose an EU-wide windfall profits tax on energy companies deriving income from 
operations in EU countries (“Solidarity Contribution”). The current tax in 2022 includes a Solidarity Contribution relating to the 
income in France amounting to USD 10,915 thousand which is payable in Q2 2023. 

Capital Expenditure

Development and exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred in the the year ended December 31, 2022, was as follows:

USD Thousands
Canada –

Southern Assets
Canada –

 Northern Assets Malaysia France Total

Development 69,196 49,566 27,305 12,244 158,311

Exploration and evaluation – (802) 149 4 (649)

69,196 48,764 27,454 12,248 157,662

Capital expenditure of USD 157,662 thousand was mainly spent in Malaysia on the A15 sidetrack well completion and in Canada 
on the production well pump upgrades and additional drilling at Ferguson, Suffield area assets and Onion Lake Thermal.

Net revenues from the Blackrod appraisal project in Canada amounting to USD 7,508 thousand was offset against exploration and 
evaluation capitalized costs during 2022.

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets amounted to USD 33,374 thousand as at December 31, 2022, which included USD 31,542 thousand 
in respect of the FPSO Bertam. The FPSO Bertam is being depreciated on a unit of production basis based on the Bertam field 2P 
reserves.
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Financial Position and Liquidity

Financing 
As at January 2022, IPC had an outstanding EUR 13 million unsecured credit facility in France (the “France Facility“), with maturity 
in May 2026. IPC commenced quarterly repayments of the French Facility in August 2022. The amount remaining outstanding 
under the France Facility as at December 31, 2022 was USD 12 million (EUR 11 million). 

As at January 2022, the Group had a reserve-based lending (RBL) credit facility of USD 140 million in connection with its oil and 
gas assets in France and Malaysia and a RBL credit facility of CAD 300 million in connection with its oil and gas assets in Canada.

In February 2022, IPC completed the issuance of USD 300 million of Bonds, which mature in February 2027 and have a fixed
coupon rate of 7.25% per annum, payable in semi-annual instalments in August and February. The Group used a portion of the 
proceeds of the Bonds to fully repay the outstanding RBL credit facilities, which were then cancelled. At the same time, the Group 
entered into a revolving credit facility of CAD 75 million (the “Canadian RCF”) in connection with its oil and gas assets in Canada. 
The Canadian RCF has a maturity of February 2024 and no cash amounts were drawn under the Canadian RCF as at December 31, 
2022.

Total net cash as at December 31, 2022 amounted to USD 175 million.

IPC intends to fund the Cor4 acquisition with cash on hand and the Blackrod Phase 1 development with cash on hand and forecast 
FCF generated by its operations.

The Bonds repayment obligations as at December 31, 2022, are classified as non-current as there are no mandatory repayments 
within the next twelve months.

An amount of USD 3.4 million (EUR 3.2 million) drawn under the France Facility as at December 31, 2022 is classified as current 
representing the repayment planned within the next twelve months.

The Group is in compliance with the covenants of the Bonds and its financing facilities as at December 31, 2022.

Cash and cash equivalents held amounted to USD 487 million as at December 31, 2022 of which USD 4 million was restricted.

Working Capital 
As at December 31, 2022, the Group had a net working capital balance including cash of USD 488,661 thousand compared to USD 
56,181 thousand as at December 31, 2021. The difference as at December 31, 2022, from December 31, 2021, is mainly a result 
of the higher cash balances held following the Bonds issue. 

Non-IFRS Measures

In addition to using financial measures prescribed under IFRS, references are made in this MD&A to “operating cash flow”, “free
cash flow”, “EBITDA”, “operating costs” and “net debt”/”net cash”, which are non-IFRS measures. Non-IFRS measures do 
not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by 
other public companies. Non-IFRS measures should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures prepared in 
accordance with IFRS.

The Corporation uses non-IFRS measures to provide investors with supplemental measures to assess cash generated by and
the financial performance and condition of the Corporation. Management also uses non-IFRS measures internally in order to
facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period, prepare annual operating budgets and assess the Group’s
ability to meet its future capital expenditure and working capital requirements. Management believes these non-IFRS measures
are important supplemental measures of operating performance because they highlight trends in the core business that may
not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on IFRS financial measures. Management believes such measures allow for
assessment of the Group’s operating performance and financial condition on a basis that is more consistent and comparable
between reporting periods. The Corporation also believes that securities analysts, investors and other interested parties
frequently use non-IFRS measures in the evaluation of public companies. Forward-looking statements are provided for the
purpose of presenting information about management’s current expectations and plans relating to the future and readers are
cautioned that such statements may not be appropriate for other purposes.

“Operating cash flow” is calculated as revenue less production costs less current tax. Operating cash flow is used to analyze the
amount of cash that is being generated available for capital investment and servicing debt.

“Free cash flow” is calculated as operating cash flow less capital expenditures less decommissioning and farm-in expenditures
less general, administration and depreciation expenses before depreciation and less cash financial items. Free cash flow is used
to analyze the amount of cash that is being generated by the business and that is available for such purposes as repaying debt,
funding acquisitions and returning capital to shareholders.

“EBITDA” is calculated as net result before financial items, taxes, depletion of oil and gas properties, exploration costs,
impairment costs and depreciation and adjusted for non-recurring profit/loss on sale of assets and other income.
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“Operating cost” is calculated as production costs excluding any change in the inventory position and the cost of blending and is
used to analyze the cash cost of producing the oil and gas volumes.

“Net debt” is calculated as bank loans and Bonds less cash and cash equivalents. “Net cash” is calculated as cash and cash 
equivalents less bank loans and Bonds. 

Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures

Operating cash flow
The following table sets out how operating cash flow is calculated from figures shown in the Financial Statements:

USD Thousands

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

Revenue 256,479 215,296 1,135,958 666,409 

Production costs (127,495) (102,561) (483,646) (325,007)

Current tax (15,316) (2,048) (29,365) (4,670)

Operating cash flow 113,668 110,687 622,947 336,732 

Free cash flow
The following table sets out how free cash flow is calculated from figures shown in the Financial Statements:

USD Thousands

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

Operating cash flow - see above 113,668 110,687 622,947 336,732 

Capital expenditures (42,792) (17,441) (157,662) (43,990)

Abandonment and farm-in expenditures1 (1,085) (1,282) (6,962) (4,546)

General, administration and depreciation expenses before 
depreciation2 (3,333) (2,648) (12,832) (10,648)

Cash financial items3 (1,170) (2,356) (15,249) (14,664)

Free cash flow 65,288 86,960 430,242 262,884 

1  See note 19 to the Financial Statements 
2  Depreciation is not specifically disclosed in the Financial Statements
3  See notes 5 and 6 to the Financial Statements.

EBITDA
The following table sets out the reconciliation from net result from the consolidated statement of operations to EBITDA:

USD Thousands

Three months ended
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

Net result 61,183 66,918 337,725 146,059

Net financial items 6,002 4,079 37,131 30,214 

Income tax 24,486 5,408 127,413 21,684 

Depletion 30,320 30,293 122,041 119,013 

Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets 2,695 2,628 10,787 10,108 

Exploration and business development costs 558 345 2,775 1,960 

Depreciation included in general, administration and depreciation 
expenses1 407 416 1,608 1,716 

EBITDA 125,651 110,087 639,480 330,754 

1  Item is not shown in the Financial Statements.
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Operating costs
The following table sets out how operating costs is calculated: 

USD Thousands

Three months ended 
December 31

Year ended
December 31

2022 2021 2022 2021

Production costs 127,495 102,561 483,646 325,007

Cost of blending (46,534) (22,323) (189,172) (78,434)

Change in inventory position (4,592) (15,296) (158) 1,656

Operating costs 76,369 64,942 294,316 248,229

Net cash / (debt)
The following table sets out how net cash / (debt) is calculated from figures shown in the Financial Statements: 

USD Thousands December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Bank loans (12,142) (113,122)

Bonds (300,000) –

Cash and cash equivalents 487,240 18,810

Net cash / (debt) 175,098 (94,312)

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

IPC, through its subsidiary IPC Canada Ltd, has issued three letters of credit as follows: (a) CAD 2.6 million in respect of its 
obligations to purchase diluent; (b) CAD 0.7 million in respect of its obligations related to the Ferguson asset, increasing by 
CAD 0.1 million annually to a maximum of CAD 1.0 million; and (c) CAD 1.3 million in respect of pipeline access. 

Outstanding Share Data 

The common shares of IPC trade on both the Toronto Stock Exchange and the Nasdaq Stockholm.

As at January 1, 2022, IPC had a total of 155,198,105  common shares issued and outstanding, of which IPC held 1,160,651 
common shares in treasury. All common shares held in treasury as at January 1, 2022 were cancelled during January 2022.

During 2022, under the normal course issuer bid / share repurchase program announced in December 2021 and renewed in 
December 2022 (NCIB), IPC purchased and cancelled an aggregate of 8,951,391 common shares.

During Q2 2022, IPC commenced an offer to repurchase common shares under the substantial issuer bid (SIB). Under the SIB,  
IPC purchased and cancelled an aggregate of 8,258,064 common shares. 

As at December 31, 2022, IPC had a total of 136,827,999 common shares issued and outstanding, with no common shares held 
treasury.

During 2023, IPC continued repurchasing common shares for cancellation under the NCIB. During the period of January 1 to 
February 7, 2023, IPC purchased 809,659 common shares, of which 738,243 common shares were cancelled. As at February 
7, 2023, IPC had a total of 136,089,756 common shares issued and outstanding, of which IPC held 71,416 common shares in 
treasury.

Nemesia S.à.r.l., an investment company wholly owned by trusts whose settlor was the late Adolf H. Lundin, owns 40,697,533 
common shares in IPC, representing 29.9% of the outstanding common shares as at February 7, 2023.

In addition, IPC has 117,485,389 outstanding class A preferred shares, issued as a part of an internal corporate structuring to a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of IPC. Such preferred shares are not listed on any stock exchange and do not carry the right to vote on 
matters to be decided by the holders of IPC’s common shares.

IPC has 5,115,591 IPC Share Unit Plan awards outstanding as at February 7, 2023 (10,703 awards granted in January 2020, 
1,216,409 awards granted in March 2020, 25,335 awards granted in July 2020, 21,216 awards granted in January 2021, 674,225 
awards granted in March 2021, 1,716,000 awards granted in May 2021, 10,067 awards granted in July 2021 and 12,543 awards 
granted in January 2022, 1,421,534 awards granted in March 2022, 5,487 awards granted in July 2022 and 2,072 awards granted 
in January 2023).
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

In Canada, an oil pipeline from the Onion Lake Thermal field to a gathering system has been built by a third party for the exclusive 
use of IPC. Onion Lake Thermal oil production is blended with condensate before being transported via the pipeline and is 
therefore expected to attract improved realized prices as a result of the blended oil. The pipeline is also expected to improve the 
reliability and uptime of the transportation and production at Onion Lake Thermal. The initial investment in the pipeline was met 
by the pipeline owner and is to be recovered through an agreed tariff charged to IPC. IPC has committed to a firm transportation 
service for 15 years from commencement of service in April 2022, with total remaining tariffs committed as shown in the table 
below:

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter

Transportation service (MCAD) 27.3 28.0 28.4 29.0 29.0 303.3

In Malaysia, IPC has an obligation to make payments towards historic costs on Block PM307 payable on the Bertam field for every 
1 MMboe gross that the field produces above 10 MMboe gross. The estimated liability based on current 2P reserves and which is
capped at cumulative production of 27.5 MMboe gross, has been provided for in the Group’s Balance Sheet  – see Note 19 
Provisions of the Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In connection with the preparation of the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements, management has made assumptions 
and estimates about future events and applied judgments that affect the reported values of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses 
and related disclosures. These assumptions, estimates and judgments are based on historical experience, current trends and other 
factors that they believe to be relevant at the time the financial statements are prepared. The management reviews the accounting 
policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with 
IFRS. However, because future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could differ from these 
assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.

Transactions with Related Parties 

Orrön Energy (formerly Lundin Energy) has charged the Group USD 605 thousand in respect of office space rental and USD
1,480 thousand in respect of shared services provided during the year 2022. Lundin Foundation has charged the Group USD 200
thousand in respect of sustainability advisory services provided to the Group during the year 2022.

All transactions with related parties are in the normal course of business and are made on the same terms and conditions as with 
parties at arm’s length.

Financial Risk Management 

As an international oil and gas exploration and production company, IPC is exposed to financial risks such as interest rate risk,
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risks as well as the risk related to the fluctuation in the oil price. The Group seeks to control
these risks through sound management practice and the use of internationally accepted financial instruments, such as oil and gas
price, interest rate or foreign exchange hedges as the case may be. Financial instruments will be solely used for the purpose of
managing risks in the business. As at December 31, 2022, the Corporation had entered into oil and gas price hedges – see below.

Management believes that the cash resources, other current assets and cash flow from operations are sufficient to finance the
Group’s operations and capital expenditures program over the next year.

Capital Management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to meet its
committed financial liabilities and work program requirements in order to create shareholder value. The Group may put in place
new bonds or credit facilities, repay debt, or pursue other such restructuring activities as appropriate.

Management of the Corporation will continuously monitor and manage the Group’s capital, liquidity and net debt position in order
to assess the requirement for changes to the capital structure to meet the objectives and to maintain flexibility.

Price of Oil and Gas
Prices of oil and gas are affected by the normal economic drivers of supply and demand as well as by financial investors and 
market uncertainty. Factors that influence these prices include operational decisions, prices of competing fuels, natural disasters, 
economic conditions, transportation constraints, political instability or conflicts or actions by major oil exporting countries. Price 
fluctuations will affect the Group’s financial position. 

Based on analysis of the circumstances, the management assesses the benefits of forward hedging monthly sales contracts for 
the purpose of protecting cash flow. If management believes that a hedging contract will appropriately help manage cash flow 
then it may choose to enter into a commodity price hedge. In addition, see the Financial Position and Liquidity section above 
regarding applicable credit facility covenants to hedge future production.
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The Group had oil price sale financial hedges outstanding as at December 31, 2022, which are summarized as follows:

Period Volume (barrels per day) Type Average Pricing 

January 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023 12,000 WCS/ARV Differential USD - 10.08/bbl

The Group had gas price sale financial hedges outstanding as at December 31, 2022, which are summarized as follows:

Period Volume (Gigajoules (GJ) per Day) Type Average Pricing 

January 1, 2023 – March 31, 2023 35,000 AECO Swap CAD 6.03/GJ

April 1, 2023 – October 31, 2023 35,000 AECO Swap CAD 3.95/GJ

The above hedges are treated as effective and changes to the fair value are reflected in other comprehensive income. The hedges had 
a positive fair value of USD 6,616 thousand as at December 31, 2022.

Currency Risk
The Group’s policy on currency rate hedging is, in the case of currency exposure, to consider fixing the rate of exchange. The 
Group will take into account the currency exposure, current rates of exchange and market expectations in comparison to historic 
trends and volatility in making the decision to hedge.

In October 2022, IPC entered into currency hedge swaps for 2023 to buy CAD 15 million per month, sell USD at an average
exchange rate of 1.3619 and to buy EUR 3 million per month, sell USD at an average exchange rate of 1.0000. This is to partially
fund operational expenditures in those currencies in Canada and France respectively.

The above hedge is treated as effective and changes to the fair value are reflected in other comprehensive income. The currency 
hedge swaps had a positive fair value of USD 3,970 thousand as at December 31, 2022.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk to earnings due to uncertain future interest rates on borrowings. The Group will take into account the 
level of external debt, current interest rates and market expectations in comparison to historic trends and volatility in making the 
decision to hedge.

Credit Risk
The Group may be exposed to third party credit risk through contractual arrangements with counterparties who buy the Group’s 
hydrocarbon products. The Group’s policy is to limit credit risk by only entering into oil and gas sales agreements with reputable 
and creditworthy oil and gas and trading companies. Where it is determined that there is a credit risk for oil and gas sales, the 
Group’s policy is to require credit enhancement from the purchaser.

The Group’s policy on joint venture parties is to rely on the provisions of the underlying joint operating agreements to take 
possession of the licence or the joint venture partner’s share of production for non-payment of cash calls or other amounts due. In 
addition, cash is to be held and transacted only through major banks.
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RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES 

IPC is engaged in the exploration, development and production of oil and gas and its operations are subject to various risks and 
uncertainties which include but are not limited to those listed below. The risks and uncertainties below are not the only ones 
that the Group faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Group or that the Group currently considers 
immaterial may also impair the business and operations of the Group and cause the price of the IPC’s shares to decline. If any of 
the following risks actually occur, the Group’s business may be harmed and the financial condition and results of operations may 
suffer significantly.

See also “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information” and “Reserves and Resource Advisory” in this MD&A.

Non Financial Risks

Exploration, Development and Production Risks: Oil and gas operations involve many risks that even a combination of 
experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. The long-term commercial success of the Group 
depends on its ability to find, acquire, develop and commercially produce oil and gas reserves. Without the continual addition 
of new reserves, any existing reserves associated with the Group’s oil and gas assets at any particular time, and the production 
therefrom, will decline over time as such existing reserves are exploited. There is a risk that additional commercial quantities of 
oil and gas will not be discovered or acquired by the Group. Production delays and declines from normal field operating conditions 
cannot be eliminated and can be expected to adversely affect revenue and cash flow levels to varying degrees.

Future oil and gas development may involve unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells, but also from wells that are productive 
but do not produce sufficient petroleum substances to return a profit after drilling, operating and other costs. Completion of a well 
does not assure a profit on the investment or recovery of drilling, completion and operating costs. In addition, drilling hazards or 
environmental damage could greatly increase the cost of operations, and various field operating conditions may adversely affect 
the production from successful wells. These conditions include delays in obtaining governmental approvals or consents, shut-ins 
of connected wells resulting from extreme weather conditions, insufficient storage or transportation capacity or other geological 
and mechanical conditions. Production delays and declines from normal field operating conditions cannot be eliminated and can be 
expected to adversely affect revenue and cash flow levels to varying degrees.

Oil and gas exploration, development and production operations are subject to all the risks and hazards typically associated with 
such operations, including hazards such as fire, explosion, blowouts, cratering, hydrocarbon releases and spills, each of which 
could result in substantial damage to oil and gas wells, production facilities, other property and the environment or personal injury. 
In accordance with industry practice, the Group will not fully insure against all of these risks, nor are all such risks insurable. The 
Group maintains liability insurance in an amount that it considers consistent with industry practice. Due to the nature of these 
risks, however, there is a risk that such liabilities could exceed policy limits, in which event the Group could incur significant costs.

Volatility in Oil and Gas Commodity Prices and Price Differentials: The marketability and price of oil and gas that may 
be acquired or discovered by the Corporation is and will continue to be affected by numerous factors beyond its control. The 
Corporation’s ability to market its oil and gas may depend upon its ability to access space on pipelines that deliver oil and gas to 
commercial markets. The Corporation may also be affected by deliverability uncertainties related to the proximity of its reserves 
to pipelines and processing and storage facilities, the capacity of such pipelines and facilities, and operational problems affecting 
such pipelines and facilities as well as extensive government regulation relating to price, taxes, royalties, land tenure, allowable 
production, the export of oil and gas and many other aspects of the oil and gas business.

Prices for oil and gas are subject to large fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for 
oil and gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors beyond the control of the Corporation. These factors include 
economic conditions in Europe, Asia, the United States, Canada and elsewhere, the actions of OPEC and OPEC+, strategic 
petroleum reserve (SPR) management by the United States, the conflict in Ukraine, the impact of pandemics (including Covid-19), 
governmental regulation, political instability in the Middle East and elsewhere, the foreign supply of oil and gas, risks of supply 
disruption, the price of foreign imports and the availability of alternative fuel sources.

Oil and gas prices have fluctuated widely during recent years and may continue to be volatile in the future. Any substantial and 
extended decline in the price of oil and gas would have an adverse effect on the carrying value of the reserves and resources, 
borrowing capacity, revenues, profitability and cash flows associated with the Group’s assets and may have a material adverse 
effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects associated with the Group’s assets.

The Group’s financial performance also depends on revenues from the sale of commodities which differ in quality and location 
from underlying commodity prices quoted on financial exchanges. Of particular importance are the price differentials in Canada 
between the Group’s heavy crude oil (in particular the heavy crude oil differential) and quoted market prices. The market price 
for heavy crude oil and bitumen in Canada is generally lower than market prices for light oil, due principally to the higher costs 
associated with refining a barrel of heavy crude oil and higher transportation costs (diluent is required to be purchased and blended 
with heavy crude oil to transport on most pipelines). Heavy crude oil differentials are also influenced by other factors such as 
capacity and interruptions, refining demand and the quality of the oil produced, all of which are beyond the Group’s control. It is 
difficult to predict future price differentials and any increase in heavy crude oil differentials could have an adverse effect on the 
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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In addition, there has not been, at times, sufficient pipeline capacity to export all Canadian crude oil and the availability of 
alternative transport capacity is more expensive and variable, therefore, the price for Canadian crude oil is very sensitive to pipeline 
and refinery outages. This has resulted in significantly lower prices being realized by Canadian producers compared with the WTI 
price and the Brent price for crude oil. In addition, the pro-rationing of capacity on inter-provincial pipeline systems continues to 
affect the ability to export oil and gas from Canada. There can be no certainty that current investment in pipelines will provide 
sufficient long-term export capacity or that currently operating systems will remain in service. There is also no certainty that short-
term operational constraints on pipeline systems, arising from pipeline interruption, refinery outages and/or increased supply of 
crude oil, will not occur.

In order to transport crude oil production in Canada to sales markets, the Group is required to meet certain pipeline specifications. 
Heavy crude oil and bitumen is usually blended with a lighter hydrocarbon (commonly referred to as diluent) to increase its flow 
characteristics. The cost of diluent is generally correlated to crude oil prices. A shortfall in the supply of diluent may cause its price 
to increase which would adversely affect the Group’s financial position and cash flow.

Climate Change: Climate change issues remain an important factor for the oil and gas industry.

Transition Risks

The Group’s facilities and operations, and the oil and gas that the Group markets, result in the emission of greenhouse gas (GHG)  
which makes the Group subject to GHG emissions legislation and regulation. Governments continue to evaluate and implement 
policy, legislation, and regulations focused on restricting GHG emissions commonly and promoting adaptation to climate 
change and the transition to a low-carbon economy. It is not possible to predict what measures governments may implement 
in this regard, nor is it possible to predict the requirements that such measures may impose or when such measures may be 
implemented. Given the evolving nature of climate change policy and the control of GHG emissions and resulting requirements, 
including carbon taxes and carbon pricing schemes implemented by varying levels of government, it is expected that current 
and future climate change regulations will have the effect of increasing the Group’s operating expenses, and, in the long-term, 
potentially reducing the value of oil and gas assets.
.

Regulatory climate change related risks arise from increased or amended environmental regulation. A breach of such regulations 
may result in the imposition of fines or issuance of clean up orders in respect of the Group or the Group’s assets, some of which 
may be material. Furthermore, management of the Corporation believes the political climate appears to favour new programs for 
environmental laws and regulation, particularly in relation to the reduction of GHG emissions or emissions intensity. There is a risk 
that any such programs, laws or regulations, if proposed and enacted, may contain emission reduction targets which will require 
substantial capital investments to adapt processes in place or lead to financial penalties or charges as a result of the failure to meet 
such targets.

Climate change policy is evolving at regional, national and international levels, and political and economic events may significantly 
affect the scope and timing of climate change measures that are ultimately put in place. Implementation of strategies by any 
level of government within the countries in which the Corporation operates, and whether to meet international agreed limits, 
or as otherwise determined, for reducing GHGs could have a material impact on the operations and financial condition of the 
Corporation.

In addition, concerns about climate change and public discussion that climate change may be associated with extreme weather 
conditions  have resulted in a number of environmental activists and members of the public opposing the continued exploitation, 
transportation and development of fossil fuels. Given the evolving nature of the debate related to climate change and the control of 
GHGs and resulting requirements, it is not possible to predict the impact on the Group and its operations and financial condition.

Emission and carbon tax regulations in Canada federally and regionally are evolving and as these regulations are established or 
amended, they may have an impact on organizations involved in heavy oil production. It is difficult to assess the overall impact 
these regulations will have on the Group at this time but it could result in increased costs to comply, delays in having projects 
approved and potentially a reduction in demand for oil from these regions, all of which could have a material negative impact on 
the Group’s business.

Physical Risks

Physical climate change related risks can be event-driven with increased severity of extreme weather events, such as cyclones, 
hurricanes, droughts, or floods, or long-term shifts in climate patterns with sustained higher temperatures or sea level rise. These 
physical risks may have financial and operational implications for the Corporation, such as direct damage to assets and indirect 
impacts from supply chain disruption to the delivery of goods and services. Certain of IPC’s oil and gas assets are in locations that 
are proximate to forests and rivers and a wildfire or flood may lead to significant downtime and/or damage.

Reputational Risks: Reputational risks arise from the surge of societal pressure on the fossil fuel industry in relation to its 
contribution to global GHG emissions. Maintaining a positive reputation in the eyes of investors, regulators, communities, 
employees and the general public is an important aspect for the success of the Corporation. Negative impact on the industry and 
the Corporation’s reputation could result in the long-term delays in obtaining regulatory approvals, increased operating costs, lower 
shareholder confidence, or availability of insurance and financing.
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Oil and gas operations may be subject to public opposition. Such public opposition could result in higher costs, delays or even 
project cancellations due to increased pressure on governments and regulators by special interest groups including Indigenous 
groups, landowners, environmental groups and other organizations, blockades, legal or regulatory actions or challenges, increased 
regulatory oversight, reduced support of governments, delays in, challenges to, or the revocation of regulatory approvals, permits 
and/or licenses, and direct legal challenges, including the possibility of climate-related litigation. 

Pandemics: The Covid-19 virus and the restrictions and disruptions related to it had a material effect on the world demand for, and 
prices of, oil and gas as well as the market price of the shares of oil and gas companies generally. There can be no assurance that 
these effects will not resume or that commodity prices will not decrease or remain volatile in the future due to Covid-19 or other 
pandemics. These factors are beyond the control of the Corporation, and it is difficult to assess how these, and other factors, will 
continue to affect the Corporation and the market price of IPC’s common shares. 

Future Covid-19, including variants, or other pandemics may increase IPC’s exposure to, and magnitude of, each of the risks and 
uncertainties identified in this MD&A that result from, for example, a reduction in demand for oil and gas consumption, lower or 
volatile commodity prices, reliance on third parties, operational risks and costs and changes in government regulation. The extent 
to which these pandemics impact IPC’s business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments, 
which are highly uncertain and are difficult to predict, including, but not limited to, the duration and spread of any pandemics, their 
severity, the actions taken to contain such pandemics or treat their impact, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic 
and operating conditions resume and their impacts to IPC’s business, results of operations and financial condition which could be 
more significant in upcoming periods as compared with previous periods. Even after these pandemics have subsided, IPC may 
continue to experience materially adverse impacts to IPC’s business as a result of the global economic impact of these pandemics.

Project Risks: The Group is undertaking various projects, including Phase I of the Blackrod project. Project interruptions may delay 
expected revenues from operations. Significant project cost overruns could make a project uneconomic. IPC’s ability to execute 
projects depends upon numerous factors beyond its control, including: processing, pipeline and storage capacity, availability
of water, electricity, gas, diluent and other operational supplies, effects of weather, availability of personnel and equipment, 
unexpected cost increases, accidents, regulatory and third party approvals and commercial arrangements, and regulatory changes 
(including carbon tax). As a result of these and other factors, the Group may be unable to execute projects on time, on budget, or 
at all.

Inflationary Pressures and Costs: The Group’s operating costs could escalate and make operations unprofitable due to supply 
chain disruptions, inflationary cost pressures, equipment limitations, escalating supply costs, commodity prices, and additional 
government intervention. Labour costs, abandonment, reclamation, gas, electricity, water, diluent and chemicals are examples 
of some of the operating and other costs that are susceptible to significant fluctuation. The inability to manage costs may impact 
project returns and future development decisions, which could have an adverse effect on financial performance. The cost or 
availability of oil and gas field equipment may adversely affect IPC’s ability to undertake projects. The oil and gas industry is cyclical 
in nature and is prone to shortages of supply of equipment and services. These materials and services may not be available when 
required at reasonable prices. A failure to secure the services and equipment necessary to operations or projects for the expected 
price, on the expected timeline, or at all, may have an adverse effect on financial performance.

Operational Risks Relating to Facilities and Pipelines: The pipelines and facilities associated with the Group’s assets, are 
exposed to operational risks that can lead to hydrocarbon releases, production interruptions and unplanned outages. Other 
operating risks relating to the facilities and pipelines associated with the Group’s assets include: the breakdown or failure of 
equipment; breakdown or malicious attacks on information systems or processes; the performance of equipment at levels below 
those originally intended; operator error; disputes and other issues with interconnected facilities; and catastrophic events such 
as natural disasters, fires, explosions, fractures, acts of terrorists and saboteurs and other similar events, many of which will be 
beyond the control of the Group. The occurrence or continuance of any of these or other operational events could curtail sales or 
production or materially increase the cost of operating the facilities and pipelines associated with the Group’s oil and gas assets 
and reduce revenues accordingly.

The Group’s financial performance is significantly affected by the cost of operating and the capital costs associated with its assets. 
Operating and capital costs are affected by a number of factors including, but not limited to inflationary price pressure, scheduling 
delays, failure to maintain quality construction standards and supply chain disruptions. Fluctuations in operating and capital costs 
could negatively impact the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and value of its oil and gas 
reserves.

Reductions in Demand for Oil and Gas: Increasing consumer demand for alternatives to oil and gas, conservation measures, 
alternative fuel requirements, and technological advances in fuel economy and renewable energy generation systems, could 
reduce the demand for oil and gas. Some jurisdictions have implemented policies or incentives to decrease the use of fossil fuels 
and to encourage the use of renewable fuel alternatives, which could reduce the demand for oil and gas. Advancements in energy 
efficient products have a similar effect on the demand for oil and gas. The Corporation cannot predict the impact of changing 
demand for oil and gas products, and any major changes may have an adverse effect on IPC’s business, financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flow from operations by decreasing increasing costs, limiting access to capital and decreasing the value of 
oil and gas assets.

Uncertainties Associated with Estimating Reserves and Resources Volumes: There are numerous uncertainties inherent 
in estimating quantities of oil and gas reserves and resources (contingent and prospective) and the future cash flows attributed 
to such reserves and resources. The cash flow information associated with reserves and resources set forth in this MD&A 
are estimates only. The actual production, revenues, taxes and development and operating expenditures with respect to the 
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reserves and resources associated with the Group’s assets will vary from estimates thereof and such variations could be material. 
Estimates of reserves that may be developed and produced in the future are often based upon volumetric calculations and upon 
analogy to similar types of reserves rather than actual production history. There is uncertainty that it will be commercially viable to 
produce any portion of the contingent resources.

In accordance with applicable securities laws, the Corporation and the Corporation’s independent reserves auditors have used 
forecast prices and costs in estimating the reserves, resources and future net cash flows as summarized herein. Actual future net 
cash flows will be affected by other factors, such as actual production levels, supply and demand for oil and gas, curtailments or 
increases in consumption by oil and gas purchasers, changes in governmental regulation or taxation and the impact of inflation on 
costs.

References to “contingent resources” do not constitute, and should be distinguished from, references to “reserves”. References 
to “prospective resources” do not constitute, and should be distinguished from, references to “contingent resources” and 
“reserves”. This MD&A contains estimates of the net present value of the future net revenue from IPC’s reserves and resources. 
The estimated values of future net revenue disclosed in this MD&A do not represent fair market value. There is no assurance that 
the forecast prices and cost assumptions used in the reserves and resources evaluations will be attained and variances could be 
material. See also “Reserves and Resource Advisory” below.

SAGD Recovery Process: The Group has implemented a SAGD recovery process at the Onion Lake Thermal project and would 
use the SAGD process at the Blackrod project. The SAGD recovery process requires a significant amount of gas or other fuels 
to produce steam for use in the recovery process. The amount of steam required in the production process can vary and impact 
costs significantly. The quality and performance of the reservoir can impact the timing, cost and levels of production using this 
technology. There can be no assurance that the Group’s operations will produce at the expected levels or on schedule. In addition, 
a significant amount of water is used in SAGD operations. Government regulations apply to access to and use of water. Any 
shortages in water supplies could lead to increased costs and have a material adverse effect on results of operation and financial 
condition.

Hydraulic Fracturing: Hydraulic fracturing involves the injection of water, sand, and small amounts of additives under high pressure 
into tight rock formations that were previously unproductive to stimulate the production of oil and gas. Concerns about seismic activity, 
including earthquakes, caused by hydraulic fracturing has resulted in regulatory authorities implementing additional protocols for areas 
that are prone to seismic activity or completely banning hydraulic fracturing in other areas. Any new laws, regulations, or permitting 
requirements regarding hydraulic fracturing could lead to operational delays, increased operating costs, third-party or governmental 
claims, and could increase costs of compliance, as well as delay development of certain oil and gas resources. Restrictions or bans on 
hydraulic fracturing could result in restricting the economic recovery of oil and gas reserves.

In addition, the Group may need to dispose of the fluids produced from oil and gas production operations, including produced water. The 
legal requirements related to the disposal of produced water into a non-producing geologic formation by means of underground injection 
wells are subject to change based on concerns of the public or governmental authorities regarding such disposal activities.

Regulatory Approvals and Compliance and Changes in Legislation and the Regulatory Environment: Oil and gas operations 
(including exploration, development, production, pricing, marketing and transportation) are subject to extensive controls and 
regulations imposed by various levels of government, which may be amended from time to time. Governments may regulate or 
intervene with respect to exploration, production and abandonment activities, price, taxes (including carbon taxes), royalties and 
the export of oil and gas. The implementation of new regulations or the modification of existing regulations affecting the oil and 
gas industry could reduce demand for oil and gas and increase the costs associated with the Group’s oil and gas assets, any of 
which may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of the Group’s 
oil and gas assets. In order to conduct oil and gas operations, the Group will require regulatory permits, licences, registrations, 
approvals, authorizations and concessions from various governmental authorities. There is a risk that the permits, licences, 
registrations, approvals, authorizations and concessions currently granted to the Group (including, for example, the Malaysian 
flagging status for the FPSO Bertam) will not be renewed or that the Group will be unable to obtain all of the permits, licences, 
registrations, approvals, authorizations and concessions that may be required to conduct operations that it may wish to undertake.

The French government has enacted legislation to cease granting new petroleum exploration licences in France and to restrict 
the production of oil and gas under existing production licences in France from 2040. There is a risk that France could implement 
further legislative changes and that the licence regime in France could become more onerous. In Canada, the oil and gas regulatory 
authorities have implemented regulations regarding the ability to transfer leases, licences, permits, wells and facilities between 
parties. These authorities have increased the minimum abandonment liability rating of the buyer before they will accept a transfer 
of oil and gas assets. These regulations may make it difficult and costly for producers, such as IPC, to transfer or sell assets to 
other parties.

Change in governments or policies in the countries in which the Group operates may have an impact on the decisions taken 
and regulations made by such governments on matters that may impact the oil and gas industry including the balance between 
economic development and environmental policy. The oil and gas industry has become an increasingly political topic, which has 
resulted in a rise in activism and criticism surrounding oil and gas development, particularly with respect to infrastructure projects. 
Protests, blockades and demonstrations have the potential to delay and disrupt the Group’s activities.

31



Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended and year ended December 31, 2022

Indigenous Land and Rights Claims: In Canada, Indigenous groups have filed claims in respect of their treaty rights against the 
federal and certain provincial governments as well as private individuals and companies. The Group is not aware of any claims 
made with respect to its properties or assets; however; if a claim arose and was successful, it may have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operation and prospects. The majority of the Group’s interests at Onion 
Lake are situated on traditional reserve lands and are subject to the federal rules and regulations of Indian Oil and Gas Canada as 
well as of the Onion Lake Cree Nation of Saskatchewan/Alberta. There are risks associated with the management of the Group’s 
interests on these lands, including access and lease terms.

Change of Control under Licences: The licence areas associated with the Group’s oil and gas assets require government consent 
or compliance with regulations imposed by oil and gas regulatory authorities to effect a change of control of the owner or an 
assignment of the ownership interest in the licence area. There may also be contractual restrictions on assignment and change 
of control, including in the Suffield area of Canada where certain operations are conducted within a Canadian Forces Base under 
access agreements with Canadian federal government and the Alberta provincial government.  Accordingly, should the Group 
propose to dispose of assets or if there is a change of control of the Corporation, consent may be required in order to remain in 
compliance with the applicable licences and concessions. The failure to obtain such consent may have a material adverse effect on 
the Corporation. Further, the requirement to obtain such consent may limit the ability of a third party to effect a change of control 
transaction with the Corporation.

Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of Acquisitions and Dispositions: The Group may make acquisitions and dispositions of 
businesses and assets in the ordinary course of business. Achieving the benefits of acquisitions depends in part on successfully 
consolidating functions and integrating operations and procedures in a timely and efficient manner as well as the Group’s ability to 
realize the anticipated growth opportunities and synergies from combining the acquired businesses and operations with those of 
the Group. In addition, non-core assets may be periodically disposed of, so that the Group can focus its efforts and resources more 
efficiently. Depending on the state of the market for such non-core assets, certain non-core assets of the Group, if disposed of, 
could be expected to realize less than their carrying value on the financial statements of the Group.

Reliance on Third-Party Operators: The Group has partners in some of the licence areas associated with the Group’s assets. In 
some cases, including in the Aquitaine Basin in France, the Group is not the operator of the licence and concession areas and must 
depend on the competence, expertise, judgment and financial resources (in addition to those of its own and, where relevant, other 
partnership and joint venture companies) of the partner operator and the operator’s compliance with the terms of the licences 
and contractual arrangements. Mismanagement of licence areas by the Group’s partner operators or defaults by them in meeting 
required obligations may result in significant exploration, production or development delays, losses or increased costs to the 
Group.

Reliance on Third-Party Infrastructure: The Group delivers the products associated with the Group’s assets by gathering, 
processing and pipeline systems, most of which it does not own. The amount of oil and gas that the Group is able to produce 
and sell is subject to the accessibility, availability, proximity and capacity of these gathering, processing and pipeline systems. The 
lack of availability of capacity in any of the gathering, processing and pipeline systems, and in particular the processing facilities, 
could result in the Corporation’s inability to realize the full economic potential of its production or in a reduction of the price offered 
for the Corporation’s production or increased operating or transportation costs. Any significant change in market factors or other 
conditions affecting these infrastructure systems and facilities, as well as any delays in constructing new infrastructure systems 
and facilities could harm the Group’s business financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and future prospects.

Credit Facilities and Bonds: The Group is, and may in the future become, party to credit facilities with international financial 
institutions. The Corporation has also issued bonds and may issue further bonds in the future. The terms of these facilities and 
bonds may contain operating and financial covenants and restrictions on the ability of the Group to, among other things, incur or 
lend additional debt, pay dividends and make restricted payments, encumber its assets, sell assets and enter into certain merger 
or consolidation transactions. The failure of the Group to comply with the covenants contained in these facilities and bonds could 
result in an event of default, which could, through acceleration of debt, enforcement of security or otherwise, materially and 
adversely affect the operating results and financial condition of the Group.

In addition, the maximum amount that the Group is permitted to borrow under its credit facilities may be subject to periodic review 
by the lenders. The Group’s lenders generally review its oil and gas production and reserves, forecast oil and gas prices, general 
business environment and other factors to establish the amount which the Group is entitled to borrow. In the event the lenders 
decide to reduce the amount of credit available under the credit facilities, the Group may be required to repay all or a portion of the 
amounts owing thereunder.

If the Group fails to comply with the covenants in these facilities and bonds, is unable to repay or refinance amounts owned at 
maturity or pay the debt service charges or otherwise commit an event of default, such as bankruptcy, it could result in the seizure 
and/or sale of the Group’s assets by the creditors. The proceeds from any sale of our assets would be applied to satisfy amounts 
owed to the secured creditors and then unsecured creditors. Only after the proceeds of that sale were applied towards the 
Group’s debt would the remainder, if any, be available for the benefit of shareholders.

Credit Ratings: Credit ratings affect the Corporation’s ability to obtain short term and long term financing and the cost of such 
financing. A reduction in the current rating or a negative change in the rating outlook could adversely affect the cost of financing 
and access to sources of liquidity and capital. Any rating may not remain in effect for any given period of time or may be 
revised or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency in the future if in its judgment circumstances so warrant. Credit ratings are not 
recommendations to buy, sell or hold any of the Corporation’s securities.
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Competition for Resources and Markets: The international petroleum industry is competitive in all its phases. The Group 
competes with numerous other organizations in the search for, and the acquisition of, oil and gas properties and in the marketing 
of oil and gas. The Corporation’s competitors include oil and gas companies that may have substantially greater financial resources, 
staff and facilities than those of the Corporation. The Corporation’s ability to increase its reserves and resources in the future 
depends not only on its ability to explore and develop its present properties, but also on its ability to select and acquire other 
suitable producing properties or prospects for exploratory and development drilling. Competitive factors in the distribution and 
marketing of oil and gas include price and methods and reliability of delivery and storage. Competition may also be presented by 
alternate fuel sources and renewable energies.

Marketing: A decline in the Group’s ability to market oil and gas production could have a material adverse effect on its production 
levels or on the price that the Group receives for production, which in turn may affect the financial condition of the Corporation and 
the market price of the Common Shares. IPC’s business depends in part upon the availability, proximity and capacity of oil and gas 
gathering systems, pipelines and processing facilities as well as, potentially, rail loading facilities and railcars. Applicable regulation 
of oil and gas production, processing and transportation, tax and energy policies, general economic conditions, and changes in 
supply and demand could adversely affect IPC’s ability to produce and market oil and gas. If market factors change and inhibit 
the marketing of production, overall production or realized prices may decline, which may affect the financial condition of the 
Corporation and the market price of the Common Shares.

Hedging Strategies: From time to time, the Group may enter into agreements to receive fixed prices on its oil and gas production 
to offset the risk of revenue losses if commodity prices decline; however, if commodity prices increase beyond the levels set 
in such agreements, the Group will not benefit from such increases. Similarly, from time to time, the Group may enter into 
agreements to fix the exchange rate of certain currencies. However, if a currency declines in value compared to another currency, 
the operation of the Group’s assets will not benefit from the fluctuating exchange rate if an agreement has fixed such exchange 
rate.

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption: The operations relating to the Group’s oil and gas assets are governed by the laws of many 
jurisdictions, which generally prohibit bribery and other forms of corruption. While the Corporation has implemented an anti-
corruption compliance program across the Group, the Corporation cannot guarantee that the Group’s employees, officers, 
directors, agents, or business partners have not in the past or will not in the future engage in conduct undetected by the 
processes and procedures to be adopted by the Corporation and for which the Corporation might be held liable under applicable 
anti-corruption laws. Despite the Corporation’s compliance program and other related training initiatives, it is possible that the 
Corporation, or some of its subsidiaries, employees or contractors, could be subject to an investigation related to charges of 
bribery or corruption as a result of the unauthorized actions of its employees or contractors, which could result in significant 
corporate disruption, onerous penalties and reputational damage.

Decommissioning, Abandonment and Reclamation Costs: The Group is responsible for compliance with all applicable laws, 
regulations and contractual requirements regarding the decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation of the Group’s assets at 
the end of their economic life, the costs of which may be substantial. It is not possible to predict these costs with certainty since 
they will be a function of requirements at the time of decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation and the actual costs may 
exceed current estimates. Laws, regulations and contractual requirements with regard to abandonment and decommissioning may 
be implemented or amended in the future.

Third-Party Credit Risk: The Group may be exposed to third party credit risk through the contractual arrangements associated 
with the Group’s assets with its current or future joint venture partners, marketers of its petroleum and gas production, third party 
uses of its facilities and other parties. In the event such entities fail to meet their contractual obligations in respect of the Group’s 
assets, such failures may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects.

Repatriation of Earnings: Certain jurisdictions in which the Group operates may implement measures to facilitate management of 
foreign exchange risk. Such measures could restrict the Group’s ability to repatriate earning or other funds.

Expiration and Renewal of Licences, Leases and Production Sharing Contracts: Certain of the Group’s oil and gas assets 
are held in the form of licences, leases and production sharing contracts (PSCs). If the holder of the licence, lease or PSC or 
the operator of the licence, lease or PSC fails to meet the specific requirement of a licence, lease or PSC, including compliance 
with environmental, health and safety requirements, the licence, lease or PSC may terminate or expire. There is a risk that the 
obligations required to maintain each licence, lease or PSC will not be met. The termination or expiration of the licence, lease or 
PSC, or the working interests relating to a licence may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results 
of operations and prospects associated with the Group’s oil and gas assets. From time to time, the licences and leases may, in 
accordance with their terms, become due for renewal; there is a risk that these licences, leases and PSCs associated with the 
Group’s oil and gas assets will not be renewed by the relevant government authorities, on terms that will be acceptable to the 
Corporation. There also can be significant delay in obtaining licence renewals which may already affect the operations associated 
with the Group’s oil and gas assets.

Litigation: In the normal course of the Group’s operations, it may become involved in, named as a party to, or be the subject of, 
various legal proceedings. The outcome of outstanding, pending or future proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and 
may be determined adversely to the Group and as a result, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s assets, liabilities, 
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Economic and Political Developments in Countries in which the Group Operates: International operations are subject to 
political, economic and other uncertainties. The Group’s assets could also be adversely affected by changes in applicable laws and 
policies of Canada, Malaysia and France, which could have a negative impact on the Group.

Terrorism and Sabotage: If any of the properties, wells or facilities comprising the Group’s assets is the subject of terrorist attack 
or sabotage, it may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows 
and future prospects.

Information Security: The Group is dependent on its information systems and computer based programs. Failure, malfunction or 
security breaches by computer hackers and cyberterrorists of any such systems or programs may have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business and systems, potentially disrupting operations and affecting network assets and people’s privacy. The 
Group manages cyber security risk by ensuring appropriate technologies, processes and practices are effectively designed and 
implemented to help prevent, detect and respond to threats as they emerge and evolve. The primary risks to the Group include, 
loss of data, destruction or corruption of data, compromising of confidential customer or employee information, leaked information, 
disruption of business, theft or extortion of funds, regulatory infractions, loss of competitive advantage and reputational damage.

Insurance: Although the Group maintains insurance in accordance with industry standards to address certain risks related to 
oil and gas operations, such insurance has limitations on liability and may not be sufficient to cover the full extent of potential 
liabilities. In addition, certain risks are not, in all circumstances, insurable or, in certain circumstances, the Group may elect not 
to obtain insurance to deal with specific risks due to the high premiums associated with such insurance or other reasons. The 
payment of any uninsured liabilities would reduce the funds available to IPC. The occurrence of a significant event that IPC is 
not fully insured against, or the insolvency of the insurer of such event, may have an adverse effect on IPC’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. The Group’s insurance policies are generally renewed on an annual basis and, 
depending on factors such as market conditions, the premiums, policy limits and/or deductibles for certain insurance policies 
can vary substantially. In some instances, certain insurance may become unavailable or available only for reduced amounts of 
coverage.

Potential Conflicts of Interest: Certain of the individuals who are directors of the Corporation are also directors of other oil 
and gas companies and as such may, in certain circumstances, have a conflict of interest requiring them to abstain from certain 
decisions.

Key Personnel: IPC’s success is in part dependent upon management, leadership capabilities and the quality and competency 
of key personnel. If IPC is unable to retain key personnel and critical talent or to attract and retain new talent with the necessary 
leadership, professional and technical competencies, it could have an adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects.

Change in Investors: Some institutional and other investors have announced that they no longer are willing to fund or invest 
in oil and gas assets or companies, or are reducing the amount thereof over time. In addition, certain institutional investors 
are requesting that issuers develop and implement more robust social, environmental and governance policies and practices. 
Developing and implementing such policies and practices can involve significant costs and require a significant time commitment 
from the Corporation. Failing to implement the policies and practices, as requested by institutional investors, may result in such 
investors reducing their investment in the Corporation, or not investing in IPC at all.

Significant Shareholder: Nemesia S.à.r.l., an investment company wholly owned by trusts whose settlor was the late Adolf H. 
Lundin (“Nemesia”), owns approximately 29.9% of the aggregate voting shares of the Corporation. Nemesia’s holdings may allow 
it to significantly affect substantially all the actions taken by the shareholders of the Corporation, including the election of directors. 
As long as Nemesia maintains a significant interest in the Corporation, it is likely that Nemesia will exercise significant influence 
on the ability of the Corporation to, among other things, enter into a change in control transaction of the Corporation that might 
otherwise be beneficial to its shareholders and may also discourage acquisition bids for the Corporation. There is a risk that the 
interests of Nemesia will not be aligned with the interests of other shareholders.

Financial Risks 

Management Estimates and Assumptions: In preparing consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS, estimates 
and assumptions are used by management in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses 
recognized during the periods presented and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities known to exist as of the date of the 
financial statements. These estimates and assumptions must be made because certain information that is used in the preparation 
of such financial statements is dependent on future events, cannot be calculated with a high degree of precision from data 
available, or is not capable of being readily calculated based on generally accepted methodologies. In some cases, these estimates 
are particularly difficult to determine and the Corporation must exercise significant judgment. Actual results for all estimates could 
differ materially from the estimates and assumptions used by the Corporation, which could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and future prospects.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting: Effective disclosure controls and 
procedures and internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for the Corporation to provide reliable financial and other 
disclosures and to help prevent fraud. The Corporation cannot be certain that the procedures it undertakes to help ensure the 
reliability of its financial reports and other disclosures, including those imposed on it under Canadian securities laws, will ensure 
that it maintains adequate control over financial processes and reporting. Failure to implement required new or improved controls, 
or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm the Group’s results of operations or cause it to fail to meet its 
reporting obligations. If the Corporation or its independent auditor discover a material weakness, the disclosure of that fact, even 
if quickly remedied, could reduce the market’s confidence in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements and harm the 
trading price of the common shares.

Income Taxes: Income tax laws relating to the oil and gas industry, such as the treatment of resource taxation or dividends and 
the imposition of carbon taxes, may in the future be changed or interpreted in a manner that adversely affects the Group’s assets. 
Furthermore, there is a risk that the relevant tax authorities will not agree with management’s calculation of the income for tax 
purposes associated with the Group’s assets or that such tax authorities will change their administrative practices to the detriment 
of the Corporation. In the event of a successful reassessment of the Corporation’s income tax returns, such reassessment may 
have an impact on current and future taxes payable.

Additional Funding Requirements: The Corporation’s cash flow from its reserves may not be sufficient to fund its ongoing 
activities at all times. From time to time, the Corporation may require additional financing in order to carry out its oil and gas 
acquisition, exploration and development activities. Failure to obtain such financing on a timely basis could cause the Corporation 
to forfeit its interest in certain properties, miss certain acquisition opportunities and reduce or terminate its operations. If 
the Corporation’s revenues from its reserves decrease as a result of lower oil and gas prices or otherwise, it will affect the 
Corporation’s ability to expend the necessary capital to replace its reserves or to maintain its production. If the Corporation’s funds 
from operations is not sufficient to satisfy its capital expenditure requirements, there is a risk that debt or equity financing will be 
unavailable to meet these requirements or, if available, will be on terms unacceptable to the Corporation. Continued uncertainty 
in domestic and international credit markets could materially affect the Corporation’s ability to access sufficient capital for its 
capital expenditures and acquisitions, and as a result, may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s ability to execute 
its business strategy and on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and also negatively impact the 
market price of the Common Shares.

Variations in Foreign Exchange Rates and Interest Rates: World oil and gas prices are quoted in United States dollars and are 
therefore affected by exchange rates, which will fluctuate over time. Future exchange rates could accordingly impact the future 
value of the Corporation’s reserves and resources as determined by independent evaluators. To the extent that the Corporation 
engages in risk management activities related to foreign exchange rates, there will be a credit risk associated with counterparties 
of the Corporation. An increase in interest rates could result in a significant increase in the amount the Corporation pays to service 
any debt that it may incur, which could negatively impact the market price of the Common Shares.

Issuance of Further Debt: From time to time, the Corporation may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of 
other organizations. These transactions may be financed in whole or in part with debt, which may create debt or increase the 
Corporation’s then-existing debt levels above industry standards for oil and gas companies of similar size. Depending on future 
exploration and development plans, the Corporation may require additional equity and/or debt financing that may not be available 
or, if available, may not be available on favorable terms. The level of the indebtedness that the Corporation may have from 
time to time could impair the Corporation’s ability to obtain additional financing on a timely basis to take advantage of business 
opportunities that may arise.

Common Share Price Volatility: The market price for Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in 
response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Corporation’s control, including the following:

• Actual or anticipated fluctuations in the Corporation’s results of operations;
• Recommendations by securities research analysts;
• Changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other companies that investors deem comparable to the 

Corporation;
• The loss of executive officers and other key personnel of the Corporation;
• Sales or perceived sales of additional Common Shares;
• Significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital;
• Commitments by or involving the Corporation or its competitors; and
• Trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and other related issues in the 

Corporation’s business segments or target markets.

Financial markets can experience significant price and volume fluctuations that may particularly affect the market prices of 
equity securities of companies and that may be unrelated to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of 
such companies. Accordingly, the market price of the Common Shares may decline even if the Corporation’s operating results, 
underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. These factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in 
asset values, which may result in impairment losses.
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be 
disclosed by the Corporation in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation 
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the securities legislation. Management, 
under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for the design and operation of 
disclosure controls and procedures.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Management is also responsible for the design of the Group’s internal controls over financial reporting in order to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with IFRS. However, due to inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all 
misstatements and fraud. 

There have been no material changes to the Groups internal control over financial reporting during the three and twelve month 
periods ended December 31, 2022, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Group’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Control Framework 
Management assesses the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting using the Internal Control 
– Integrated Framework (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO).   

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This MD&A contains statements and information which constitute “forward-looking statements“ or “forward-looking information“ 
(within the meaning of applicable securities legislation). Such statements and information (together, “forward-looking statements“) 
relate to future events, including the Corporation’s future performance, business prospects or opportunities. Actual results may differ 
materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A 
are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this MD&A, unless 
otherwise indicated. IPC does not intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update these forward-looking statements, except 
as required by applicable laws. 

All statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Any statements that express or 
involve discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, forecasts, guidance, budgets, objectives, 
assumptions or future events or performance (often, but not always, using words or phrases such as “seek“, “anticipate“, “plan“, 
“continue“, “estimate“, “expect“, “may“, “will“, “project“, “forecast”, “predict“, “potential“, “targeting“, “intend“, “could“, 
“might“, “should“, “believe“, “budget“ and similar expressions) are not statements of historical fact and may be “forward-looking 
statements“. 

Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: 
• The potential for an improved economic environment resulting from a lack of capital investment and drilling in the oil and gas 

industry;
• 2023 production range, operating costs and capital and decommissioning expenditure estimates; 
• Estimates of future production, cash flows, operating costs and capital expenditures that are based on IPC’s current business 

plans and assumptions regarding the business environment, which are subject to change; 
• IPC’s financial and operational flexibility to continue to react to recent events and navigate the Corporation through periods of 

volatile commodity prices; 
• IPC’s continued access to its existing credit facilities, including current financial headroom, on terms acceptable to the 

Corporation;
• The ability to fully fund future expenditures from cash flows and current borrowing capacity; 
• IPC’s ability to maintain operations, production and business in light of the current and any pandemics and the restrictions 

and disruptions related thereto, including risks related to production delays and interruptions, changes in laws and regulations 
and reliance on third-party operators and infrastructure; 

• IPC’s intention and ability to continue to implement our strategies to build long-term shareholder value; 
• The ability of IPC’s portfolio of assets to provide a solid foundation for organic and inorganic growth; 
• The continued facility uptime and reservoir performance in IPC’s areas of operation; 
• Future development potential of the Suffield and Ferguson operations in Canada, including the timing and success of future 

oil and gas drilling and optimization programs; 
• Development of the Blackrod project in Canada, including estimates of resource volumes, future production, timing, 

regulatory approvals, third party commercial arrangements, breakeven oil prices and net present values; 
• Current and future drilling pad production and timing and success of facility upgrades, tie-in work and infill drilling at Onion 

Lake Thermal;
• The timing and certainty regarding completion of the proposed acquisition of Cor4, including the ability of the IPC and Cor4 

to obtain necessary approvals and otherwise satisfy the conditions to such completion and the absence of material events 
which may interfere with such completion;

• The ability of IPC to achieve and maintain current and forecast production and take advantage of production growth and 
development upside opportunities related to Cor4’s assets post-completion of the Cor4 acquisition;
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• The ability of IPC to integrate Cor4’s assets into its current operations; 
• The existence of drill-ready opportunities in respect of Cor4’s assets and their ability to add further near-term production;
• The potential improvement in the Canadian oil egress situation and IPC’s ability to benefit from any such improvements;
• The timing and success of the future development projects and other organic growth opportunities in France; 
• The ability to maintain current and forecast production in France; 
• The ability of IPC to achieve and maintain current and forecast production in Malaysia; 
• The ability to IPC to acquire further common shares under the NCIB, including the timing of any such purchases;
• The return of value to IPC’s shareholders as a result of the NCIB;
• The ability of IPC to implement further shareholder distributions in addition to the NCIB;
• IPC’s ability to implement its GHG emissions intensity and climate strategies and to achieve its net GHG emissions intensity 

reduction targets;
• Estimates of reserves and contingent resources; 
• The ability to generate free cash flows and use that cash to repay debt; 
• IPC’s ability to identify and complete future acquisitions; and
• Future drilling and other exploration and development activities.

Statements relating to “reserves“ and “contingent resources“ are also deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve 
the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, that the reserves and resources described exist in the 
quantities predicted or estimated and that the reserves and resources can be profitably produced in the future. Ultimate recovery 
of reserves or resources is based on forecasts of future results, estimates of amounts not yet determinable and assumptions of 
management. See also “Reserves and Resource Advisory“.

The forward-looking statements are based on certain key expectations and assumptions made by IPC, including expectations 
and assumptions concerning: prevailing commodity prices and currency exchange rates; applicable royalty rates and tax laws; 
interest rates; future well production rates and reserve and contingent resource volumes; operating costs; the timing of receipt of 
regulatory approvals; the performance of existing wells; the success obtained in drilling new wells; anticipated timing and results 
of capital expenditures; the sufficiency of budgeted capital expenditures in carrying out planned activities; the timing, location 
and extent of future drilling operations; the successful completion of acquisitions and dispositions; the benefits of acquisitions; 
the state of the economy and the exploration and production business in the jurisdictions in which IPC operates and globally; 
the availability and cost of financing, labour and services; and the ability to market crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids 
successfully.

Although IPC believes that the expectations and assumptions on which such forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, 
undue reliance should not be placed on the forward-looking statements because IPC can give no assurances that they will prove to 
be correct. Since forward-looking statements address future events and conditions, by their very nature they involve inherent risks 
and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those currently anticipated due to a number of factors and risks.

These include, but are not limited to: 
• The risks associated with the oil and gas industry in general such as operational risks in development, exploration and 

production;
• Delays or changes in plans with respect to exploration or development projects or capital expenditures;
• The uncertainty of estimates and projections relating to reserves, resources, production, revenues, costs and expenses;
• Health, safety and environmental risks;
• Commodity price fluctuations;
• Interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations;
• Marketing and transportation;
• Loss of markets;
• Environmental risks;
• Competition;
• Incorrect assessment of the value of acquisitions;
• Failure to complete or realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions or dispositions;
• The ability to access sufficient capital from internal and external sources;
• Failure to obtain required regulatory and other approvals; and
• Changes in legislation, including but not limited to tax laws, royalties, environmental and abandonment regulations. 

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive. See also “Risk and Uncertainties”

Estimated FCF generation is based on IPC’s current business plans over the periods of 2023 to 2027 and 2028 to 2032. 
Assumptions include average net production of approximately 50 Mboepd over the period of 2023 to 2027, average net production 
of approximately 65 Mboepd over the period of 2028 to 2032, average Brent oil prices of USD 75 to 95 per boe escalating by 2% 
per year, and average Brent to Western Canadian Select differentials and average gas prices as estimated by IPC’s independent 
reserves evaluator and as further described in the MCR. IPC’s current business plans and assumptions, and the business 
environment, are subject to change. Actual results may differ materially from forward-looking estimates and forecasts.

Additional information on these and other factors that could affect IPC, or its operations or financial results, are included in 
the Financial Statements, the Corporation’s material change report dated February 7, 2023 (MCR), the Corporation’s Annual 
Information Form (AIF) for the year ended December 31, 2021, (See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking 
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Information”, “Reserves and Resources Advisory” and “Risk and Uncertainties”) and other reports on file with applicable 
securities regulatory authorities, including previous financial reports, management’s discussion and analysis and material change 
reports, which may be accessed through the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com) or IPC’s website (www.international-petroleum.
com).

RESERVES AND RESOURCES ADVISORY 

This MD&A contains references to estimates of gross and net reserves and resources attributed to the Corporation’s and Cor4’s 
oil and gas assets. Gross reserves / resources are the working interest (operating or non-operating) share before deduction of 
royalties and without including any royalty interests. Net reserves / resources are the working interest (operating or non-operating) 
share after deduction of royalty obligations, plus royalty interests in reserves/resources, and in respect of PSCs in Malaysia, 
adjusted for cost and profit oil. Unless otherwise indicated, reserves / resource volumes are presented on a gross basis.

Reserve estimates, contingent resource estimates and estimates of future net revenue in respect of IPC’s oil and gas assets in 
Canada (other than the assets to be acquired in the acquisition of Cor4) are effective as of December 31, 2022, and are included 
in the reports prepared by Sproule Associates Limited (Sproule), an independent qualified reserves evaluator, in accordance 
with National Instrument 51-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (NI 51-101) and the Canadian Oil and Gas 
Evaluation Handbook (the COGE Handbook) and using Sproule’s December 31, 2022 price forecasts. 

Reserve estimates, contingent resource estimates and estimates of future net revenue in respect of IPC’s oil and gas assets in 
France and Malaysia are effective as of December 31, 2022, and are included in the report prepared by ERC Equipoise Ltd. (ERCE), 
an independent qualified reserves auditor, in accordance with NI 51-101 and the COGE Handbook, and using Sproule’s December 
31, 2022 price forecasts. 

Reserve estimates and estimates of future net revenue in respect of the oil and gas assets of Cor4 are effective as of December 
31, 2022, and have been audited by a qualified reserves auditor (as defined in NI 51-101), in accordance with NI 51-101 and the 
COGE Handbook, and using Sproule’s December 31, 2022, price forecasts.

The price forecasts used in the Sproule and ERCE reports, and in respect of Cor4, are available on the website of Sproule (sproule.
com) and are contained in the MCR. These price forecasts are as at December 31, 2022 and may not be reflective of current and 
future forecast
commodity prices.

The reserve life index (RLI) is calculated by dividing the 2P reserves of 487 MMboe as at December 31, 2022 (including 15.9 
MMboe to be acquired in the proposed acquisition of Cor4), by the mid-point of the 2023 CMD production guidance of 48,000 to 
50,000 boepd. Reserves replacement ratio is based on 2P reserves of 270 MMboe as at December 31, 2021, sales production 
during 2022 of 16.9 MMboe, additions to 2P reserves during 2022 of 218 MMboe (or 234 MMboe including the 2P reserves 
attributable to the acquisition of the Cor4 assets) and 2P reserves of 471 MMboe (or 487 MMboe including the 2P reserves 
attributable to the acquisition of the Cor4 assets) as at December 31, 2022.

The product types comprising the 2P reserves described in this MD&A are contained in the MCR. See also “Supplemental 
Information regarding Product Types” below. Light, medium and heavy crude oil reserves/resources disclosed in this MD&A 
include solution gas and other by-products.

“2P reserves“ means proved plus probable reserves. “Proved reserves“ are those reserves that can be estimated with a high 
degree of certainty to be recoverable. It is likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the estimated proved 
reserves. “Probable reserves“ are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves. It is equally 
likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less than the sum of the estimated proved plus probable 
reserves. 

Each of the reserves categories reported (proved and probable) may be divided into developed and undeveloped categories.  
“Developed reserves” are those reserves that are expected to be recovered from existing wells and installed facilities or, if 
facilities have not been installed, that would involve a low expenditure (for example, when compared to the cost of drilling a well) 
to put the reserves on production. The developed category may be subdivided into producing and non-producing. “Developed 
producing reserves” are those reserves that are expected to be recovered from completion intervals open at the time of the 
estimate. These reserves may be currently producing or, if shut-in, they must have previously been on production, and the date 
of resumption of production must be known with reasonable certainty. “Developed non-producing reserves” are those reserves 
that either have not been on production, or have previously been on production, but are shut-in, and the date of resumption 
of production is unknown. “Undeveloped reserves” are those reserves expected to be recovered from known accumulations 
where a significant expenditure (for example, when compared to the cost of drilling a well) is required to render them capable of 
production. They must fully meet the requirements of the reserves classification (proved, probable) to which they are assigned.

Contingent resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known 
accumulations using established technology or technology under development, but which are not currently considered to be 
commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies. Contingencies are conditions that must be satisfied for a portion 
of contingent resources to be classified as reserves that are: (a) specific to the project being evaluated; and (b) expected to be 
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resolved within a reasonable timeframe. Contingencies may include factors such as economic, legal, environmental, political, 
and regulatory matters, or a lack of markets. It is also appropriate to classify as contingent resources the estimated discovered 
recoverable quantities associated with a project in the early evaluation stage. Contingent resources are further classified in 
accordance with the level of certainty associated with the estimates and may be sub-classified based on a project maturity and/or 
characterized by their economic status.

There are three classifications of contingent resources: low estimate, best estimate and high estimate. Best estimate is a 
classification of estimated resources described in the COGE Handbook as the best estimate of the quantity that will be actually 
recovered. It is equally likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less than the best estimate. If 
probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 50% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or 
exceed the best estimate.

Contingent resources are further classified based on project maturity. The project maturity subclasses include development 
pending, development on hold, development unclarified and development not viable. All of the Corporation’s contingent resources 
are classified as either development on hold or development unclarified. Development on hold is defined as a contingent 
resource where there is a reasonable chance of development, but there are major non-technical contingencies to be resolved 
that are usually beyond the control of the operator. Development unclarified is defined as a contingent resource that requires 
further appraisal to clarify the potential for development and has been assigned a lower chance of development until commercial 
considerations  can be clearly defined. Chance of development is the probability of a project being commercially viable. 

References to “unrisked“ contingent resources volumes means that the reported volumes of contingent resources have not 
been risked (or adjusted) based on the chance of commerciality of such resources. In accordance with the COGE Handbook 
guidance  for contingent resources, the chance of commerciality is solely based on the chance of development associated with 
the resolution of all contingencies required for the re-classification of the contingent resources as reserves. Therefore unrisked 
volumes of contingent resources do not reflect the risking (or adjustment) of such volumes based on the chance of development 
of such resources.

The contingent resources reported in the MD&A are estimates only. The estimates are based upon a number of factors and 
assumptions each of which contains estimation error which could result in future revisions of the estimates as more technical and 
commercial information becomes available. The estimation factors include, but are not limited to, the mapped extent of the oil 
and gas accumulations, geologic characteristics of the reservoirs, and dynamic reservoir performance. There are numerous risks 
and uncertainties associated with recovery of such resources, including many factors beyond the Corporation’s control. There is 
uncertainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the contingent resources referred to in the MD&A.

2P reserves and contingent resources included in the reports prepared by Sproule and ERCE in respect of IPC’s oil and gas assets 
in Canada, France and Malaysia, and 2P reserves in respect of the oil and gas assets to be acquired in the acquisition of Cor4, 
have been aggregated by IPC. Estimates of reserves, resources and future net revenue for individual properties may not reflect 
the same level of confidence as estimates of reserves, resources and future net revenue for all properties, due to aggregation. 
This MD&A contains estimates of the net present value of the future net revenue from IPC’s reserves and contingent resources 
and Cor4’s reserves. The estimated values of future net revenue disclosed in this MD&A do not represent fair market value. There 
is no assurance that the forecast prices and cost assumptions used in the reserve and resources evaluations will be attained and 
variances could be material.

The reserves and resources information and data provided in this MD&A present only a portion of the disclosure required under 
NI 51-101. All of the required information will be contained in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form for the year ended 
December 31, 2022, which will be filed on SEDAR (accessible at www.sedar.com) on or before April 1, 2023. Further information 
with respect to IPC’s and Cor4’s reserves, contingent resources and estimates of future net revenue, including assumptions 
relating to the calculation of net present value and other relevant information related to the contingent resources disclosed, is 
disclosed in the MCR available under IPC’s profile on www.sedar.com and on IPC’s website at www.international-petroleum.com.

References to “contingent resources” do not constitute, and should be distinguished from, references to “reserves”.  

BOEs may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A BOE conversion ratio of 6 thousand cubic feet (Mcf) per 1 barrel 
(bbl) is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value 
equivalency at the wellhead. As the value ratio between natural gas and crude oil based on the current prices of natural gas and 
crude oil is significantly different from the energy equivalency of 6:1, utilizing a 6:1 conversion basis may be misleading as an 
indication of value.
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Supplemental Information regarding Product Types
The following table is intended to provide supplemental information about the product type composition of IPC’s net average daily 
production figures provided in this document:

Heavy Crude Oil 
(Mbopd)

Light and Medium 
Crude Oil (Mbopd)

Conventional Natural Gas
(per day)

Total
(Mboepd)

Three months ended

December 31, 2022 22.6 10.3 98.1 MMcf                     
(16.4 Mboe) 49.2

December 31, 2021 21.7 8.5 100.2 MMcf 
(16.7 Mboe) 46.8

Year ended December 31, 2022

December 31, 2022 22.6 9.6 98.1MMcf                     
(16.4 Mboe) 48.6

December 31, 2021 20.4 8.4 99.6 MMcf 
(16.7 Mboe) 45.5

This document also makes reference to IPC’s forecast average daily production of 48,000 to 50,000 boepd for 2023. IPC 
estimates that approximately 50% of that production will be comprised of heavy oil, approximately 17% will be comprised of light 
and medium crude oil and approximately 33% will be comprised of conventional natural gas.
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Abbreviations

CAD or CA$ Canadian dollar
EUR or € Euro
USD or US$ US dollar
MYR  Malaysian Ringgit
FPSO  Floating Production Storage and Offloading (facility)

Oil related terms and measurements

AECO   The daily average benchmark price for natural gas at the AECO hub in southeast Alberta
API   An indication of the specific gravity of crude oil on the API (American Petroleum Institute) gravity scale
    Alkaline surfactant polymer (an EOR process)
ARV  Argus WCS Houston (a reference price for the cost of transporting WCS quality oil from Alberta to Houston)
bbl   Barrel (1 barrel = 159 litres)
boe1   Barrels of oil equivalents
boepd   Barrels of oil equivalents per day
bopd   Barrels of oil per day
Bcf  Billion cubic feet
Bscf   Billion standard cubic feet
Empress   The benchmark price for natural gas at the Empress point at the Alberta/Saskatchewan border
EOR   Enhanced Oil Recovery
GJ  Gigajoules
Mbbl   Thousand barrels
MMbbl   Million barrels
Mboe   Thousand barrels of oil equivalents 
Mboepd   Thousand barrels of oil equivalents per day
Mbopd   Thousand barrels of oil per day
MMboe   Million barrels of oil equivalents
MMbtu   Million British thermal units
Mcf   Thousand cubic feet
MMcf   Million cubic feet
NGL   Natural gas liquid
SAGD   Steam assisted gravity drainage (a thermal recovery process)
WTI   West Texas Intermediate (a light oil reference price)
WCS   Western Canadian Select (a heavy oil reference price)

1  All volume references to boe are calculated on the basis of six thousand cubic feet of natural gas to one barrel of oil equivalent (6 Mcf: 1 bbl) 
unless otherwise indicated. This conversion ratio is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and 
does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. Boes may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. Given that the value ratio based 
on the current price of crude oil as compared to natural gas is significantly different from the energy equivalency of 6:1, utilizing a conversion on a 
6:1 basis may be misleading as an indication of value.
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